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OUR VISION
We will enable better future environments for New Zealanders
by being a world leading regulator.

OUR VALUES

we make a difference
we are totally professional

we learn

we deliver

we are easy to deal with

we are a great place to work
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we are well connected
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Introduction
This is the first Annual Report of the Environmental

Underpinning all our work is a drive to raise our capability

Protection Authority (EPA), a new Crown agent, with a new

and performance and deliver better value for money to

Board and new responsibilities. We carry forward the legacy

taxpayers, consistent with protecting people and the

of the agencies that worked to produce an integrated

environment. Our focus throughout the year has been

organisation: the Ministry for the Environment, the Ministry

to contain costs, and where possible, reduce them. As a

for Economic Development and the Environmental Risk

result, the contingency sum of $1.5 million that was

Management Authority.

appropriated to cover any additional set-up costs for the

The EPA was established to be New Zealand’s national
environmental regulator. Our legislated responsibilities
include managing nationally significant proposals under the

for the Environment accordingly that the funds can be
returned to the government.

Resource Management Act (RMA), regulation of hazardous

Just some of the operational highlights of our year have

substances and new organisms (HSNO), administration of

included our advisory and support roles in the Board of

the New Zealand Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS), and the

Inquiry decisions on the Wiri Men’s Prison, Turitea Wind

regulation of ozone-depleting substances and hazardous

Farm, Transmission Gully Plan Change and Transmission

waste. We are the agency nominated to make decisions on

Gully Notices of Requirement and Resource Consents. We

applications for marine consents, for monitoring, compliance

considered and approved an application for a biocontrol

and enforcement under the recently enacted Exclusive

agent (a rust fungus) to combat the invasive weed lantana,

Economic Zone (EEZ) legislation.

and also approved the release of a parasitoid wasp to control

To help undertake our responsibilities we have focused
in our first year on bringing together people, systems
and strategies. We completed an internal restructure to
better align skills and functions, adopted a new vision
and values for the organisation, worked on developing
a new organisational culture, and prepared for a move to
new accommodation.

codling moth, which is a major pest to New Zealand’s apple
growers. We introduced a standard and issued guidelines
for tattoo inks, and also made a number of changes to
the standards for cosmetic products, which included a
requirement to list nanomaterials on the label from July 2015.
The number of non-forestry participants in the Emissions
Trading Scheme has more than doubled during the 2012
financial year to reach 286, as several new sectors were

We have ensured that we have the capability to carry out

brought into the Scheme, including waste, agriculture and

our legislative requirements, and have been reviewing and

synthetic greenhouse gases. This expansion of the ETS

upgrading the processes we use - for example, to import or

resulted in series of new challenges for the EPA as we worked

export hazardous substances, to apply for emission units,

to enrol and educate a variety of participants with differing

or to ensure that Boards of Inquiry are well supported – to

levels of knowledge of the ETS. We have also worked with

make them as efficient, accurate and effective as possible. We

the Ministry for the Environment to prepare to undertake our

are pleased that, throughout all the changes in our first year

new responsibilities under the EEZ legislation.

of operation, we maintained our services to the satisfaction
of the majority of our external customers. In a recent survey,
some 78 percent of our customers said they were very satisfied
or satisfied with the service they had received from the EPA.
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As a new organisation we have worked hard to ensure that
our networks across government and with groups such
as Māori, community agencies, industry, and professional
associations are well maintained. We have begun hosting an
annual Māori Environmental Management Hui that provides
a good opportunity for iwi/Māori, government agencies and
industry groups to discuss environmental issues that can
often provoke heated and impassioned debate. We were
also delighted to be able to transfer the successful statutory
Māori Advisory Committee (Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao)
model into the EPA, maintaining our strong and credible
reputation in the Māori environmental management space.
Our international linkages are also a key feature of our work,
as they provide information that informs our decision making
and policy development. We have forged relationships
with other international pesticide regulators to enable us to
harmonise regulatory approaches, and we have contributed
to the Montreal Protocol and international decision making
on the safe use of mercury.
We would like to thank members of the Board and the
staff of the EPA for their hard work during our first year. In
particular the knowledge and work of Richard Woods CNZM,
who retired on 30 June from the role of Deputy Chair of the
Board, was of enormous benefit during our transition from
three agencies into one. We look forward to building a solid
base for our governance and operational responsibilities in
the coming year.

Kerry Prendergast CNZM

Tim Lusk

Chair		

Chair Audit and Risk Committee

Environmental Protection Authority

Environmental Protection Authority

30 October 2012

30 October 2012

Rob Forlong
Chief Executive
Environmental Protection Authority
30 October 2012
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Highlights

Our first year as the EPA
Our first year has been one of transition – merging staff from three agencies
into one to administer five diverse functions while preparing to manage
a sixth. The integration was a challenge but there was no interruption
in service to our customers. A benchmark customer satisfaction survey
showed that satisfaction with our services currently stands at 78 percent.

Working smarter with technology
We used electronic technology to make the application process smoother
for submitters, the applicants and the Board of Inquiry for the Transmission
Gully proposal. Using technology in this way reduced the amount of paper
needed, made the hearing more efficient, made it easier for all parties to
access up to date information, and reduced environmental impacts.

Emissions Trading Scheme
We are involving applicants, participants and traders as we further develop
our processes and information about the Scheme. We have reduced errors
in applications and continued to enhance the security of the New Zealand
Emission Unit Register to protect data and participant information.

Streamlining application processes
Streamlining routine applications to import or manufacture low-risk
new organisms and hazardous substances has reduced application
processing times significantly. We are continuing to review ways to
improve compliance with HSNO controls.

6
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Working with Māori
We ran a successful campaign on improving the safe use of LPG on
marae this year. The project had the support of Te Puni Kōkiri and the LPG
Association to ensure that regulatory standards for the safe storage and use
of LPG on marae were achieved.

Keeping New Zealanders safe
In November 2011, we approved a new standard to better manage the
risks associated with tattoo inks and permanent makeup substances. An
increasing number of New Zealanders are choosing to get tattoos, so
tattoos and the inks used in them need to be safe.

Reducing environmental risk
Anti-fouling paints are commonly used to reduce the build-up of
microorganisms, plants and algae (biofouling) on surfaces submerged in
water, such as the hulls of vessels. We are reassessing all biocides used as
active ingredients in antifouling paints that are imported, manufactured
and used in New Zealand. Biocides can be harmful to human health and
the aquatic environment.

Working across agencies
A team from the EPA worked with Customs New Zealand and the Ministry
for the Environment to streamline the process for the management of
hazardous waste – in particular e-waste for export. This helps organisations
collecting and exporting computers and televisions for recycling overseas
to comply with regulations and meet New Zealand’s obligations under the
Basel Convention.

HIGHLIGHTS
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THE YEAR IN REVIEW
HOW OUR PAST YEAR’S WORK
HAS CONTRIBUTED TO
OUR OUTCOMES AND
INTENDED RESULTS

SECTION TITLE
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Our first year as the EPA
The Environmental Protection Authority has been operating

We undertook a benchmark customer satisfaction survey

as a Crown Agent since 1 July 2011. Our first year has been

during the year as it is our aim to ensure that our services

one of transition; merging staff from three agencies into

are efficient and effective, that we are professional and

one to administer five diverse functions while preparing

deliver on our responsibilities, and that we are easy to deal

to manage a sixth. The transition brought together

with as an organisation. Baseline data this year shows that

responsibility for managing proposals of national significance

overall satisfaction with our services currently stands at

under the RMA, the management of the Hazardous

78 percent. We are reviewing the detailed results with a view

Substances and New Organisms (HSNO) Act, regulation

to making improvements where indicated. We also conduct

of ozone-depleting substances, regulation of certain

semi-structured interviews with key stakeholders, in order to

chemicals and hazardous waste controlled by international

incorporate their feedback into improvements in our service

environmental agreements, and functions related to the

delivery. In 2012-13 we will benchmark our performance

administration of the Emissions Trading Scheme. The EPA

against similar organisations, both in New Zealand and abroad.

also provides advice to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and
Trade on environmental impact assessments for activities
in Antarctica. In addition, we have been preparing for the
extension of our resource management responsibilities
to our oceans through the Exclusive Economic Zone and
Continental Shelf (Environmental Effects) Act 2012 recently
passed by Parliament.
Our new organisational structure was put in place towards
the end of the financial year, and we moved to new
accommodation after the year end (in August 2012). The
integration of staff, functions, records and IT systems from
three different organisations was a challenge but there was
no interruption in service to our customers.
This journey is far from over. We are still assessing our various
areas of work, aligning our systems by function rather than
by legislation. Additional requirements in the 2012-13
financial year, for example EEZ legislative requirements,
must be met within budget limits. We have a new Board,
with governance responsibilities for environmental issues.
Our strategic direction, agreed in April 2012, has involved
developing our vision and values, clarifying our various
legislative responsibilities, and ensuring a firm basis for our
longer term planning. We have started to collect data on our
performance which will inform our decision making both
in the short term for regular reporting and as longer term
requirements become clear.

WORKING SMARTER
Transmission Gully Notices of Requirement
and Resource Consents
The Minister for the Environment directed the New Zealand
Transport Agency, Porirua City Council and Transpower
New Zealand Limited’s applications to a Board of Inquiry in
September 2011. We used several strategies to make the
application process smoother for submitters, the applicants
and the Board of Inquiry and to work as efficiently as possible.
The Transmission Gully proposal was the first to have all
documents distributed electronically, increasing the speed
of information circulation and reducing the amount of paper
– substantial when there are 70 individual submitters and
three applicants. Board of Inquiry members used computer
tablets to access their documentation and correspondence,
including during the five-week hearing, significantly reducing
courier costs and printing requirements. Use of our website
by counsel for submitters during the hearing reduced the
amount of storage required in the Inquiry for papers and
the amount of paper moved between offices, and increased
the speed of access to documents. Using technology in this
way reduced the amount of paper needed throughout the
application process, made the hearing more efficient, made
it easier for all parties to access up to date information, and
reduced environmental impacts. Also, a “Friend of Submitter”
was appointed to assist submitters to understand the
application process, and to group submitters who had similar
points to make.

10
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The Board issued its final decision in June 2012, before the

This past year, we approved a new group standard for

nine month statutory deadline of 18 June 2012. The EPA

substances containing pheromones for insect control.

received good feedback from the applicants, local councils

Pheromones are used to assist in estimating insect density,

and Board members about our management of the

disrupt the behaviour of pests, or control damage caused

process, including how we used our website and our

by them. The new standard means that companies will no

communication practices. We continue to review our

longer have to apply for individual HSNO approvals for each

processes within our various roles and responsibilities

new formulation, providing the formulation falls within the

with Boards of Inquiry in order to ensure the best outcome

criteria of the standard.

within a tightly managed budget.
Emissions trading
Improving customer service has been a key goal for the year.
We have been refining our documentation and processes
to reduce errors in participants’ applications. This effort has
seen error reductions of up to 50 percent in certain areas. We
have continued to enhance the security of the New Zealand
Emission Unit Register to protect data and participant
information. We are also beginning to involve applicants,
participants and traders as we further develop our processes
and information about the Scheme.
Streamlining HSNO application processes
Streamlining routine applications to import or manufacture
low-risk hazardous substances has reduced application
processing times significantly. The number of hours per
application has halved from 70 to 35 hours, and the number
of working days taken to process these applications has
fallen from a median 66 working days to 30 working days,
well under the statutory timeframes of between 60 and
100 working days.

We are currently assessing a suite of veterinary medicine
group standards. If these group standards are approved they
will mean companies importing or manufacturing veterinary
medicines will not need to apply for individual HSNO
approvals, reducing time and cost.
Improving compliance with new organism controls
We are continuing to review ways to improve compliance
with new organism controls. For example, a one-year trial
is underway at the University of Otago looking at the
effectiveness of a single set of outcome focused controls to
maintain containment of routine laboratory organisms.

WORKING ACROSS AGENCIES
Working internationally
For the first time, we are working jointly with the Australian
Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority (APVMA) on
an application to import the flammable gas ethanedinitrile
(EDN) for use as a fumigant of soil, grain, logs and timber.
EDN is a potential replacement fumigant for methyl
bromide. There is relatively little data currently available

In late 2011, we refined our process for assessing

on the substance and we are working together with the

applications for new hazardous substances coming into

Australian regulators to ensure the best information is

New Zealand, often with large data packages, to improve

available before making a decision. We are developing a

efficiency and make better use of the work of other overseas

Memorandum of Understanding with the APVMA to confirm

regulators. This has seen a decrease in median costs from

our shared understanding of the issues, mutual acceptance

$26,000 per application to $13,000.

of classifications and chemical assessments and joint

Reducing costs to applicants through
group standards

contributions to international regulatory programmes.

The EPA’s HSNO approval mechanism of group standards
offers a unique way to manage the risk posed by substances
with like properties and/or applications.

THE YEAR IN REVIEW
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E-waste

Kaupapa Kura Taiao

A team from the EPA has worked with Customs New Zealand

Our Māori Policy and Operations Group, Kaupapa Kura Taiao,

and the Ministry for the Environment to streamline processes

is working to establish collaborative relationships with

for the management of hazardous waste, in particular e-waste

counterparts in other agencies including the Ministry for

for export. This has helped organisations which collect and

the Environment, Ministry for Primary Industries, Ministry for

export computers and televisions for recycling overseas

Business, Innovation and Employment, Te Puni Kōkiri, and the

to comply with the requirements for a permit from the

Department of Conservation as well as with Te Ohu Kaimoana

EPA and meet New Zealand’s obligations under the Basel

and the Office of Treaty Settlements. Our aim is to facilitate a

Convention. Working together also helps the EPA to manage

joined-up government approach to engaging with Māori at

its workflow, as we need to work with overseas authorities to

an operational environmental management level.

get their approval to allow the waste to be imported by them.
This collaboration benefits applicants who may be unsure
of their obligations, and the Ministry for the Environment,

The Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental Shelf

which funds correctly-permitted e-waste exports.

(Environmental Effects) Bill passed into law on 3 September

Emissions Trading Scheme

2012. Once regulations are promulgated (expected in 2013),
we will have new functions in deciding marine consents, as

While the Ministry for the Environment has overall

well as monitoring and enforcement of the environmental

responsibility for the Climate Change Response Act,

effects of activities in the EEZ.

the Scheme operations are jointly governed and
delivered by the Ministry, the EPA, the Ministry for Primary
Industries and the Treasury. We have developed the ETS
Operations Manual, which specifies interagency operational
procedures such as information sharing protocols and
other areas of cooperation.
Secondments
We are keen to share experience and ideas across
government and within the natural resource sector
in particular. We have seconded staff members to the
Ministry for the Environment and to the Ministry for
Primary Industries. Staff have also been seconded to the
Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment, to assist
with the review of hydraulic fracturing (‘fracking’) and to
the Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority, to assist
with the Christchurch rebuild. These staff are working on
projects that will build their knowledge and expertise and
utilise EPA expertise. We have seconded a staff member in
from the Ministry of Primary Industries who brings project
management expertise and experience with fisheries
management, which is useful for our EEZ policy work, and
another from the Ministry for the Environment to assist with
Resource Management Act issues.

12
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We have worked closely with the Ministry for the
Environment throughout the development of this legislation,
such as assisting in advising the Select Committee. Our
new regulatory role is designed to align with other marine
legislation, and as such we are working collaboratively with
the Ministry for Business, Innovation and Employment, the
Ministry for Primary Industries, Maritime New Zealand, and
the Department of Conservation.

WORKING WITH MĀORI
Safe use of LPG on marae
We ran a successful campaign on improving the safe use
of LPG on marae this year. The project had the support of
Te Puni Kōkiri and the LPG Association to ensure that
regulatory standards for the safe storage and use of LPG
on marae were achieved.
Environmental management hui
The EPA continues to value the contribution of iwi/Māori to
its decision making and activities and hosted the inaugural
Māori Environmental Management Hui, in collaboration
with Te Puni Kōkiri, bringing together Māori, government
agencies and industry participants.

We also began the process of establishing a framework for

Products Group Standard sets maximum levels for its use in

ensuring a consistent approach and expectations of iwi/

deodorants and some cosmetics, including young children’s

Māori engagement for applications to the EPA, regardless of

bath products, shower gels and shampoos. It is banned from

legislative function. We are working with other agencies to

other cosmetic products for children under the age of three

provide a high-level, principles-based approach that aims to

years, and from oral hygiene and lip products, body lotions

achieve efficiency and effectiveness across the sector.

and creams for any age.

KEEPING NEW ZEALANDERS SAFE

REDUCING ENVIRONMENTAL RISK

Tattoo inks and permanent makeup

Organophosphates and carbamates

In November 2011, we approved a new standard to better

During the year we widened the scope to reassess

manage the risks associated with tattoo inks and permanent

organophosphate and carbamate insecticides from four to

makeup substances. An increasing number of New

36 substances. Organophosphate and carbamate insecticides

Zealanders are choosing to get tattoos, so tattoos and the

are used on a variety of agricultural and horticultural

inks used in them need to be safe. The new standard is in line

crops in New Zealand. These insecticides may be harmful

with international best practice. In preparing the standard,

to human health and the environment at relatively low

we consulted with professional tattooists, beauty therapists

concentrations. Over the past few years, we have reassessed

and health agencies. The standard and accompanying

three organophosphates. The approval for methyl-parathion

guidelines are intended to look after the health of people

was revoked, azinphos-methyl is being phased out, and

working in the industry as well as those receiving tattoos and

the plant protection uses of trichlorfon have been phased

permanent makeup procedures.

out. Applications for a further four organophosphates –

Cosmetics and nanomaterials

dichlorvos, acephate, methamidophos and diazinon –
were notified. In light of the information received during

New amendments to the Cosmetic Products Group Standard

the latter reassessments, we broadened our approach

were approved this year, including aligning the definitions

to reassess the entire group of organophosphate and

of some cosmetic products with European Union legislation

carbamate insecticides.

and requiring manufacturers to provide batch and source
code information on cosmetic labels, which is helpful for
identifying products subject to a recall. In addition, the
substance o-aminophenol has been prohibited in hair dyes,
as it is currently unclear how safe it is. Another amendment
means that from 1 July 2015, the presence of nanomaterials
in cosmetic products available in New Zealand must be
identified on labelling.
Tooth whitening products
We introduced new restrictions on the concentrations of
hydrogen peroxide in tooth whitening products that may
be supplied, and rules on who can apply such products to
members of the public.
Recall of baby wipes with iodopropynyl
Supermarkets voluntarily recalled baby wipes with
iodopropynyl butylcarbamate in them. Our Cosmetics

This is a new approach to reassessments, which weighs up
risks and benefits across a group of substances rather than
dealing with each in isolation. It means that we can avoid
unintended consequences where regulatory action on
one substance might result in increased risk from another,
and it will give greater certainty for industry around the
tools available to them in the future. We are also using this
approach in our work in reassessing anti-fouling paints.
Anti-fouling paints
These paints are commonly used to reduce the buildup of microorganisms, plants and algae (biofouling) on
surfaces submerged in water, such as the hulls of vessels.
We are reassessing all biocides used as active ingredients
in antifouling paints that are imported, manufactured and
used in New Zealand. Biocides can be harmful to human
health and the aquatic environment. We are working closely

THE YEAR IN REVIEW
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with stakeholders to assess the risks and benefits of using

enforcement agency responsible for hazardous substances in

these paints, as well as possible risk management options.

the workplace – has worked hard to develop its capability to

The results of the formal reassessment may mean that

ensure that industry and businesses comply with the HSNO

some biocides may be withdrawn because of the risks they

Act requirements. However, we still consider the resources

pose, and stricter controls on other biocides will reduce the

set aside for HSNO Act enforcement insufficient.

potential risk to human health and the aquatic environment.
New pest poisons

Industry compliance with hazardous
substance controls

New pest poisons (vertebrate toxic agents) containing two

A nationwide survey was undertaken of 400 businesses

new active ingredients have been approved for use. PAPP

covering a cross-section of industries using hazardous

(para-aminopropiophenone) is a paste available for use in

substances to estimate the level of compliance across eight

meat-based baits to kill feral cats and stoats. MZP (micro

key hazardous substance controls. The controls included

zinc phosphide) is a microencapsulated formulation of

test certification, minimising worker exposure to hazardous

zinc phosphide, used as paste to poison possums in bait

substances and emergency preparedness. The survey

stations. They both use novel toxicological properties of

involved a face-to-face interview with the person responsible

active ingredients developed by New Zealand experts and

for hazardous substance management on the site.

not widely used overseas. The use of these novel poisons in

Unfortunately only 25 percent of businesses were fully

specialist applications is likely to reduce the risk of poisoning

compliant across all eight controls. A further 30 percent of

non-target species, such as dogs and native birds.

businesses complied with seven of the eight controls,

COMPLIANCE AND
NEW KNOWLEDGE
Working with test certifiers
Test certifiers provide third party verification of compliance

The study found that, generally, businesses want to comply,
but find it difficult in a number of areas. Small to medium
enterprises in particular find it harder to comply than
large businesses.

with certain hazardous substance regulations. They are an

ETS information and education

integral part of the overall HSNO compliance regime. During

The Emissions Trading Scheme continues to break

the year, the EPA continued to support the test certification

new ground: we are working with the Ministry for the

regime by hosting a series of test certifier workshops,

Environment and the Ministry for Primary Industries on

providing guidance and technical advice, including

improving the flow of information to ETS participants

the monthly publication Test Certifier Update, and by

and into the public arena. Issues around the commercial

undertaking audits to assist continuous improvement in

sensitivity of information have been effectively managed,

their activities. The EPA also maintains a secure web site

improving the public’s understanding of the Scheme and

where test certifiers can access the test certificate register

ensuring that it works in a transparent manner. This flow

and other information relevant to their business.

of information and other data analysis will inform our

HSNO enforcement

understanding of how well the Scheme is working and
drive our future planning. To educate new participants on

We completed our annual survey of the 87 agencies

the Scheme, we have provided joint workshops with the

responsible for HSNO enforcement. In each of the past four

Ministry for Primary Industries for participants from the

years we have written to the Minister for the Environment

agricultural sector and with the Ministry for the Environment

advising that there is insufficient inspection and enforcement

for participants from the synthetic greenhouse gases and

in relation to hazardous substances in workplaces. The

waste sectors.

Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment – the

14
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REDUCING COSTS AND CREATING
CONSISTENCY IN PROCEDURES
Our focus throughout the year has been to contain costs,
and where possible, reduce them.

LOOKING TO THE FUTURE
EEZ legislation
Until the EEZ legislation comes into effect, voluntary
interim measures have been established by Cabinet,

The organisational restructure has ensured that all

whereby industry is invited to submit Environmental Impact

applications staff, whether for hazardous substances, new

Assessments (EIA) for petroleum related activities only, to the

organisms or for larger infrastructure projects are in one team

EPA for review. The process is intended to foreshadow what

to align procedures and learn from each other. Similarly, staff

will be required under the EEZ legislation, when all marine

are encouraged to attend various fora across government,

consent applications must be accompanied by an EIA.

which allows for cross fertilisation of ideas, shared
experiences and consistent best practice.

To date we have received one EIA for exploratory drilling to
assess. We have been advised that a further two could be

We have worked with the Ministry for the Environment to

provided to us prior to the passing of the regulations. We are

share common services such as internal audit, and use supply

working with the Ministry for the Environment to ensure that

panels of experts for our procurement processes which

a robust regulatory and compliance framework is in place on

ensure good quality services and products at least cost to

time.

the organisation. We use government procurement services
for computers, office consumables, air travel and legal

HSNO compliance

services, which has led to savings of around 21 percent for

We are working with the Labour Group of the Ministry for

the 2011-12 year.

Business, Innovation and Employment to improve industry

Through these various examples the contingency sum of
$1.5 million that was appropriated to cover any additional
set-up costs for the EPA was not required and we have
advised the Ministry for the Environment accordingly
that the funds can be returned to the government. We
also generated a surplus of $1,183,000 compared to a
balanced budget.

knowledge and compliance with the HSNO legislation,
and with the Ministry for the Environment to ensure a
better legislative framework for the future management of
hazardous substances.
Reassessments
The EPA has a commitment in its Statement of Intent to have
reassessed 20 hazardous substances on the Chief Executive’s

During the year we completed work on two applications from

list within a five-year period ending 30 June 2013. Eight

a group of New Zealand universities, Crown Research Institutes

had been completed by June 2012. The work underway on

and independent research organisations for the use of

the group of organophosphates and carbamates, plus the

genetically modified (GM) Arabidopsis thaliana in containment.

reassessment of anti-fouling paints will meet our target.

Arabidopsis thaliana, also known as Thale cress, is used
worldwide to study plant biology and genetics. The purpose

Benchmarking our performance

of the applications was to ensure that all GM Arabidopsis

During the 2012-13 year we will be benchmarking our

research in New Zealand is subject to controls allowing for

performance against a range of similar agencies, both in New

consistent compliance requirements and enforcement. The

Zealand and abroad. One of the aims of the project is to learn

two applications were approved in July 2012.

and share best practice across a range of indicators. We will
monitor our performance so that we can improve over time.

THE YEAR IN REVIEW
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OUR OUTCOMES FRAMEWORK
Note: These Outcomes and Impacts are from our latest Statement of Intent 2012-17. The previous Statement of Intent 2011-14 was a
transitional document, written before the EPA started its operations, and before other aspects of its work were defined. The outcomes

IMPACTS

LONG TERM
OUTCOMES

and impacts from the current Statement of Intent 2012-17 better reflect the direction and priorities of the EPA over the medium term.
New Zealand’s environmental management systems are
strengthened and supported so that they can achieve the
greatest overall environmental, economic, social and
cultural benefits.

Reduce harm from
chemical and
biological hazards
and from hazardous
waste through more
effective management
frameworks.

Improve the
implementation of the
resource management
framework to manage
environmental effects
and allocate resources
within environmental
limits.

Make timely, balanced decisions.

METHOD

Facilitate effective participation and
relationship management of Māori and
other stakeholders in decision making.

Monitor external enforcement agencies’
management of the risk of harms.

Ensure that chemical and biological
approvals prevent or manage adverse
effects.
Assist enforcement agencies,
manufacturers, importers and end
users to understand HSNO controls.

Decision making
OUTPUTS

Achieve better solutions
to environmental
problems by supporting
community and Māori
involvement and action,
and international
cooperation.

Raise public awareness of what is
required to comply with relevant
controls (international and domestic).

Ensure decision making is robust,
transparent and cost effective.
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New Zealand becomes a successful low carbon society
that is resilient to climate change impacts on its climate,
economy and lifestyle.

»	New organisms decision making.
»	Hazardous waste, ozonedepleting substances and
hazardous substances-related
decision making.
»	Resource management
decision making.

Oversight of compliance
and enforcement
»	HSNO, ozone-depleting
substances, and hazardous
waste compliance and
enforcement.
»	Promoting awareness
and compliance.
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Decrease New Zealand’s
net emissions of
greenhouse gases below
business as usual levels
in a cost-effective way.

Maximise the value of the ETS as a key
intervention to decrease New Zealand’s
net emissions of greenhouse gases by:
»	building relationships, educating
and assisting participants, account
holders and eligible entities to
enable them to receive entitlements
and meet obligations
»	managing the New Zealand Emission
Unit Register and the Scheme to
provide confidence in their security
and integrity and user satisfaction
with the quality of the service
experience
»	using operational insights to actively
influence both the achievement
of current policy intent and the
continuous improvement of the
regulatory framework
»	participate in building internal
capability to meet increasingly
complex external threats and
opportunities.

Supporting
environmental
management
»	Government policy, legislation
and international activities.
»	Resource management advice
and support services.

Emissions Trading
Scheme
»	Administration of the ETS.
»	Operation of the New Zealand
Emission Unit Register.

PROGRESS TOWARDS
OUR INTENDED RESULTS
The most direct measure of the EPA’s performance is how
successfully we are delivering our services (outputs). Each
output has one or more performance measures which are

No EPA-approved organisms become a pest,
weed or disease
A review of 22 biocontrol agents approved for release
between 2000 and 2011 found no evidence indicating that
the organisms have become pests or weeds1.

Performance, starting on page 22, for more information

Support Boards of Inquiry that make the resource
management decisions

about our outputs.

We supported Boards of Inquiry for the Men’s Prison at Wiri,

monitored throughout the year. See our Statement of Service

We are also working to identify better measures of whether
we are having an impact on the bigger issues to which our
work contributes. Currently we have identified four impacts,
as shown on page 16 and six measures to track our progress
over time.

IMPACT MEASURES THAT WILL
SHOW OUR PROGRESS OVER TIME
Downward trend in the number of serious
harm injuries, fatalities and catastrophic
events resulting from the use of hazardous
substances and new organisms
During the year we received reports of 11 Level 3 (moderate)
incidents involving hazardous substances and two

Transmission Gully Plan Change and Transmission Gully
Notice of Requirement and Resource Consents through our
advisory and support functions. This included media liaison,
advising on applications and issues, receiving and processing
submissions, managing exchange of evidence between
parties, setting up and running the hearings process and
assisting the Boards with their draft and final decisions.
The New Zealand King Salmon Company Limited (NZKS)
submitted a proposal to us for additional marine space in
the Marlborough Sounds. The NZKS Board of Inquiry was
established in November 2011. It considered and accepted
the plan change request, and consulted on it once it was
prepared. We received and processed more than 1,200
submissions on the proposal.

incidents at the same level involving new organisms. This

The Minister has also appointed a Board of Inquiry to hear

is comparable with previous years’ data collected by the

the application for the MacKays to Peka Peka Expressway.

Environmental Risk Management Authority (see Appendix 2

We received over 700 submissions on this application by

for further details of incidents during the year). There were no

August 2012.

incidents at higher levels. Work is continuing on improving
ways to engage with industry and professional groups,
educate the general public and help enforce regulations
in order to reduce serious harm injuries in the longer term.
These incidents are analysed and the lessons learnt are
disseminated to relevant organisations and individuals.

1

We have developed a proposal, currently with the Acting
Principal Environment Court Judge for comment, describing
a standard process for how we can work more effectively
with Boards of Inquiry in the future. This document is
intended to provide Board of Inquiry members with clarity
about our role in the decision making process.

Monitoring the Effectiveness of the Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act 1996, Report to the Minister for the Environment, July 2012.
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Relationships with Māori and community groups
are such that useful feedback is obtained to
inform better solutions

beginning to encourage carbon-emitting industries to

Kaupapa Kura Taiao has taken a consultative approach to the

processes. While the low price of carbon has reduced

review of the EPA’s policies and processes relating to iwi/Māori

this incentive, the effects of the ETS can be seen with the

participation. Feedback from iwi/Māori nationally (including

development of new business practices – practices that will

through our Māori National Network) has been sought on a

have increasing economic impact as the price of carbon

range of initiatives this year including the review of our policy

units rises in the long-term.

for engaging with Māori, the development of operational
processes for the involvement of Māori in decision making,
and guidance material and information relating to our
functions. We have also begun the review of our Māori
National Network to ensure we have the best model for
efficient, effective and high quality iwi/Māori participation in
our activities. We continue to support and facilitate effective
iwi/Māori engagement across our decision-making functions
by working closely with applicants and affected iwi/Māori
groups on specific applications.
The price on carbon influences business and
individuals to change behaviour to reduce
emissions
Due to the relative youth of the Emissions Trading Scheme,
the EPA is still gathering baseline data upon which
performance can be measured. By introducing a marketbased pricing function for carbon emissions, the ETS is

18
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invest in new technologies and practices to reduce the
amount of carbon produced during their production

An example is the development of alternative refrigerants,
allowing for the destruction of refrigerants with high global
warming potential. A growing number of commercial
refrigeration facilities have moved away from refrigerants of
this type, such as hydrochlorofluorocarbons, and instead are
using alternatives such as carbon dioxide.
Participants’ emissions intensity decreases
relative to production. (An upward trend in
Unique Emissions Factor applications)
During the year, the EPA received five applications for
consideration of Unique Emissions Factors (UEF). Ten
companies have now applied for UEFs, with more expected
in the 2012-13 financial year as the waste sector enters the
scheme. The total number of UEFs granted indicates that
a growing number of firms are adopting technologies or
practices to reduce their emissions in order to lower their
ETS compliance costs.

Statement of Responsibility
FINANCIAL COMMENTARY
The year-end result was a surplus of $1,183,000, compared

The major capital expenditure project this year was the

with a balanced budget. The surplus was due to lower

accommodation project, which started when the lease for

expenditure and revenue. There were fewer Nationally

the new office premises was signed in November 2011.

Significant Proposal applications than budgeted, each

The accommodation project was still work-in-progress at

of which cost less than expected. Further reductions in

30 June 2012. Other capital expenditure projects completed

expenditure resulted from efficiency gains, a conservative

were computer hardware for the network infrastructure

budget for our first year of operation and timing differences

and workstations, furniture and office equipment for staff,

in incurring transition expenditure.

and software development for new functions. Overall, the

In the EPA’s first year of operation, we identified synergies

capital expenditure for the year was $2,278,000, with a

between our activities and made efficiency gains in our
operations. The establishment of the EPA was completed
when the functions and staff of the Emissions Trading

further $987,000 capital expenditure committed but not yet
incurred. The capital expenditure budget for the year
was $4,351,000.

Scheme joined us in December 2011.

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
The Board of the Environmental Protection Authority is responsible for the preparation of the EPA’s financial statements and
statement of service performance, and for the judgements made in them.
The Board has the responsibility for establishing and maintaining a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable
assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial reporting.
In the Board’s opinion, these financial statements and statement of service performance fairly reflect the financial position and
operations of the Environmental Protection Authority for the year ended 30 June 2012.

Kerry Prendergast CNZM

Tim Lusk

Chair		

Chair Audit and Risk Committee

Environmental Protection Authority

Environmental Protection Authority

30 October 2012

30 October 2012
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SERVICE
PERFORMANCE
THE OUTPUTS WE ARE
FUNDED TO DELIVER AND
OUR SERVICE PERFORMANCE

TITLE
Photo: The EPA thanks Porirua Auto Crash Repairs Ltd for their assistance in allowing this photograph to be taken SECTION
at their premises
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Statement of service
performance for 2011-12
This section summarises the EPA’s performance against the output performance measures set out in the Statement of Intent
2011-14, as reflected in the Output Agreements 2011-12 with the Ministers for the Environment and Climate Change. For each
output expense, we have assessed whether we have met each of the targets associated with each of the measures, and have
provided an explanation where there is a significant difference between the target and what we achieved.
The development of robust and meaningful performance measures and targets is an ongoing process. Historic measures
relating to performance of the functions prior to the establishment of the EPA do not necessarily translate into the new EPA
operating environment, especially when we are still in a dynamic state. The achievement of measures set prior to the financial
year under review may be affected by changes to the structure and direction of the new organisation as it becomes more
certain of its priorities and direction. Where this is the case, explanations have been given against the results for the year.
Our Outcomes Framework on page 16 sets out the linkages between our output expenses, intended results (impacts) and
outcomes in more detail.
Cost of outputs for the year ended 30 June 2012
ACTUAL
2012
$000

BUDGET
2012
$000

23,900

44,751

Output 1 - New organisms decision making

1,528

2,187

Output 2 - Hazardous substance, ozone-depleting substance and hazardous waste decision making

4,085

4,871

Output 3 - Resource management decision making

4,828

24,074

Output 4 - H
 azardous substance, new organism, ozone-depleting substance and
hazardous waste compliance and enforcement

1,894

2,488

663

764

Output 6 - Government policy, legislation and international activities

1,994

2,009

Output 7 - Resource management advice and support services

1,821

2,911

Output 8 - Administration of the Emissions Trading Scheme

2,889

2,667

Revenue
EXPENDITURE

Output 5 - Promoting awareness and compliance

2

Output 9 - Operation of New Zealand Emission Unit Register

1,080

780

EPA transition3

1,935

2,000

22,717

44,751

1,183

-

2

TOTAL EXPENDITURE
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

OUTPUT PERFORMANCE
Vote Environment
Work under Vote Environment relates to the Government’s aim to achieve better solutions to environmental problems and
improve the resource management framework.

2
3
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Actual expenditure for seven months compared with budgeted expenditure of six months.
One-off funding for EPA transition
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OUTPUT 1: NEW ORGANISM DECISION MAKING
What we delivered
We assessed and decided 49 applications and statutory determinations for new organisms in accordance with the Hazardous
Substances and New Organisms Act 1996.
We developed and maintained policies and procedures relating to new organism decision making.
We implemented specific programmes focused on guiding stakeholders through the applications process, raising awareness
and improving applicants’ understanding of how to make an application.
We monitored and provided oversight of decision making delegated to the Chief Executive or an Institutional Biological Safety
Committee (IBSC) and provided guidance, support and advice to delegated decision makers.
How well we delivered it
PERFORMANCE MEASURES

STANDARD 2011-12

ACTUAL 2011-12

STANDARD MET

The independent audit of a representative sample of decisions
show that they have minimised the risks of approved organisms
becoming pests and weeds or giving rise to diseases, and are
compliant with the HSNO Act and relevant regulations.

100%

100%

Yes

All decisions are made within the statutory timeframes.

100%

100%

Yes

Nil

Nil

Yes

There are no successful legal challenges of decisions.

So that… we reduce harm from chemical and biological hazards, and from hazardous waste through more effective
management frameworks

SERVICE PERFORMANCE
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Further performance information
Number of new organism decisions – Part 5
FORECAST
2011-12

ACTUAL
2011-12

4

5

10

7

GMO development in containment

1

4

GMO imports into containment

1

1

GMO field tests and outdoor developments

0

0

APPLICATION TYPE

Non-GMO release and conditional release (all types)
Non-GMO containment

GMO releases and conditional releases

0

0

13

14

Emergencies

0

0

Minor or technical amendments

8

11

Reassessments

1

0

Statutory determinations: Determinations

1

6

Reassessments

1

0

0

1

40

49

Non-statutory advice – present in New Zealand

30

32

Monitoring of IBSC decisions

60

39

Application for new IBSC delegation

0

0

Audit of IBSC delegation

1

1

Renewal of IBSC delegation

4

4

Rapid assessments (GM and non-GM) – excluding releases

Transhipment of a new organism
TOTAL

4

4
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	The reduction in IBSC approvals in the year is due to broader research projects now being approved by IBSCs.
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Timeliness of new organism Part 5 applications decided in 2011-12
TOTAL NUMBER
OF APPLICATIONS
DECIDED 2011-12

MEDIAN
2011-12
(DAYS)

STATUTORY
TIMING
(DAYS)

Notified (full release)

5

60

100

Notified (conditional release)

0

N/A

100

Notified (containment)

0

N/A

100

Non-notified (containment)

7

20

60

Notified

0

N/A

100

Non-notified

4

8

60

Notified

0

N/A

100

Non-notified

1

22

60

0

N/A

100

Notified (full release)

0

N/A

100

Notified (conditional release)

0

N/A

100

Non-GMO release

1

1

10

GMO development in containment

9

1

10

GMO import into containment

4

1.5

10

GMO releases

0

N/A

10

Externally generated

0

N/A

N/A

Chief Executive initiated

0

N/A

N/A

Import or release of a new organism in emergency

0

N/A

100

Import or release of a new organism in special emergency

0

N/A

100

1

1

10

Determination on an organism

6

9

N/A

Grounds for reassessment

0

N/A

N/A

APPLICATION TYPE

NON-GMO RELEASE AND CONTAINMENT

GMO DEVELOPMENT IN CONTAINMENT

GMO IMPORT INTO CONTAINMENT

GMO FIELD TEST AND OUTDOOR DEVELOPMENTS
GMO field test and outdoor developments
GMO RELEASES

RAPID ASSESSMENTS

REASSESSMENTS

IMPORT OR RELEASE OF A NEW ORGANISM IN EMERGENCY

TRANSHIPMENT
Transhipment
STATUTORY DETERMINATIONS

MINOR OR TECHNICAL AMENDMENTS
Amendment to all application types other than rapid assessment applications

7

21

N/A

Amendment to a rapid assessment application

4

3.5

N/A

Note: Median processing days include time extensions.
SERVICE PERFORMANCE

25

OUTPUT 2: HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCE, OZONE-DEPLETING SUBSTANCE
AND HAZARDOUS WASTE DECISION MAKING
What we delivered
We assessed and decided 2,844 applications for hazardous substances, licences, permissions, test certifiers, equipment,
codes of practice, import certificates, waivers and statutory determinations for hazardous substances in accordance with the
Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act 1996.
We issued 55 import or export permits for chemicals and wastes covered by the Stockholm, Rotterdam, Basel and Waigani
Conventions in accordance with the Imports and Exports (Restrictions) Act 1988 and the Imports and Exports (Restrictions)
Prohibition Order (No 2) 2004.
We issued 178 import or export permits for ozone-depleting substances in accordance with the Ozone Layer Protection Act 1996.
We developed and maintained policies and procedures for decision making relating to hazardous substances, including the
incorporation of Māori perspectives, and policies and procedures for the import, export and, where applicable, use of certain
chemicals and hazardous waste.
We reviewed and reassessed hazardous substance approvals, including group standards and applications for reassessments
initiated by the Chief Executive.
How well we delivered it
PERFORMANCE MEASURES

STANDARD 2011-12

ACTUAL 2011-12

STANDARD MET

Audits of decisions show that they have taken into account the
risks, costs and benefits relating to the import, manufacture, or
use of hazardous substances, and are compliant with the HSNO
Act and relevant regulations.

100%

100%

Yes

All decisions are made within the statutory timeframes.

100%

88%5
(222 decisions
from 252)

No

20 by
June 2013

On Track
(8 completed)

On Track –
two groups of
substances will
be reassessed
in 2012-13 to
complete the
requirement

100%

Some minor
non-compliance7

No

All

Some minor
non-compliance7

No

The Chief Executive initiated reassessment of 20 substances is
achieved within a five-year timeframe (by 30 June 2013).6

Audits show that all decisions have taken into account the
statutory requirements relating to the import and export of
chemicals and waste and the import, export and use of ozonedepleting substances.
Audits show that the public registers are up-to-date and comply
with the relevant statutory requirements.

So that… we reduce harm from chemical and biological hazards, and from hazardous waste through more effective
management frameworks
	95% of hazardous substances applications under Part 5 of the Act met their statutory timeframes including time extensions. Test certifier applications under Part 6 of the Act met their
statutory timeframes in 72% of applications. See page 27 for further performance information.
6
	Due to the complexity of the reassessment process and need to give priority to Part 5 applications from external applicants, these projects usually span more than one year.
Hence, no attempt has been made to predict the number of reassessments to be completed in a single year.
7
	Some minor issues such as omitting some administrative data, incorrect naming of registers and adequate documentation.
5
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Further performance information
Number of hazardous substance decisions – Part 5
FORECAST
2011-12

ACTUAL
2011-12

Import or manufacture for release excluding rapid assessments

65

66

Import or manufacture in containment

15

24

Emergencies

1

0

Special emergencies

1

1

15

5

APPLICATION TYPE

Minor or technical amendments
Group standards

0

4

64

72

Reassessments

8

1

Statutory determinations

5

10

Transhipment of a hazardous substance

6

12

TOTAL

180

195

Non-statutory advice – status of substances and product labelling

550

514

FORECAST
2011-12

ACTUAL
2011-12

84

72

3

8

1,333

1,941

126

114

1,546

2,135

Rapid assessments

Number of hazardous substance decisions – Part 6
APPLICATION TYPE

Test certifiers
Codes of Practice
Permits, Controlled Substances Licences and import certificates for explosives
Other Part 6 (waivers)
TOTAL

SERVICE PERFORMANCE
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Number of ozone-depleting substances applications
FORECAST
2011-12

ACTUAL
2011-12

Special Permit to import HCFC’s*
Regulation 9A

0

1

HCFC Wholesaler import
Regulation 11

4

5

APPLICATION TYPE

Import HCFC
Regulation 9

160

1208

Export permit
Regulation 23

20

14

Import exemption
Regulation 33

40

27

Methyl Bromide Wholesaler import
Regulation 7(1)

1

1

Methyl Bromide replacement
Regulation 7(3)

4

10

229

178

FORECAST
2011-12

ACTUAL
2011-12

Import hazardous waste

30

30

Export hazardous waste

60

209

2

5

92

55

TOTAL
*HCFC = Hydrochlorofluorocarbons
Import/export permits
APPLICATION TYPE

Transit of hazardous waste
TOTAL

8
9
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	Functions under the Ozone Layer Protection Act transferred to the EPA from the Ministry of Economic Development on 1 July 2011, including forecast numbers of applications.
	Functions were transferred to the EPA from the Ministry of Economic Development on 1 July 2011. The forecast number of applications was based on data provided by the Ministry.
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Timeliness of hazardous substance Part 5 applications decided in 2011-12
NUMBER OF
DECISIONS

STATUTORY
REQUIREMENT
(DAYS)

124.5*

6

100

Notified (Category A) – risk reduction

N/A

0

100

Notified (Category B) – standard

N/A

0

100

Notified (Category B) – risk reduction

N/A

0

100

76

1

100

Notified (Category C) – risk reduction

N/A

0

100

Major issue

293*

1

100

Non-notified Category A

30

49

60

Non-notified Category B

N/A

0

60

APPLICATION TYPE

IMPORT OR MANUFACTURE FOR RELEASE
Notified (Category A) – standard

Notified (Category C) – standard

Non-notified Category C

MEDIAN
TOTAL DAYS
TO PROCESS

9

60

Externally generated Group Standards

133

2

160

Internally generated Group Standards
Amendments to a Group Standard

N/A
66

0
2

160
160

19

20

60

IMPORT OR MANUFACTURE IN CONTAINMENT
Field trial
Export only

87*

32

1

60

N/A
27

0
3

60
60

RAPID ASSESSMENT TO IMPORT OR MANUFACTURE
Least degree of hazard

10

23

10

Reduced hazard
Similar composition and hazardous properties

10
10

20
29

10
10

REASSESSMENTS
Chief Executive initiated (full)

N/A

0

100

Chief Executive initiated (modified)

N/A

0

100

Externally generated (full)
Externally generated (modified)

N/A
60

0
1

100
100

IMPORT OR MANUFACTURE FOR RELEASE IN AN EMERGENCY (RAPID ASSESSMENT)
Emergency
Special emergency

N/A
5

0
1

N/A
10

1

12

10

141
19

1
9

N/A
N/A

11

1

N/A

23.5

4

N/A

Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs)
Other purpose

TRANSHIPMENT
Transhipment
STATUTORY DETERMINATIONS
Determination on a substance
Grounds for reassessment
MINOR AND TECHNICAL AMENDMENTS
Amendment to a Category A risk reduction, rapid assessment,
containment or transhipment application
Amendment to all application types other than those listed above
* See Performance information on timeliness, page 30.
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Performance Information on timeliness
Category A Applications
In 2011 we changed the way in which we classified applications. Notified applications are often large and complex, and take
considerable time to process. Of the six notified applications in 2011-12, all but one had appropriate time extensions in place.
Major Issue Application
This pathway is used for applications for hazardous substances which are not only considered to have significant public
interest but are also contentious. The application was for Micro-encapsulated Zinc Phosphide (MZP) and MZP Paste
(HSR09013) a new vertebrate toxic agent that uses the release of phosphine gas as the toxin. With no antidote for phosphine
poisoning, substantial assessment was required to develop controls that would adequately manage the risks to operators,
bystanders and to the environment (including non-target organisms).
Category C Applications
In early 2011, we introduced a quicker, non-notified, process for this category of applications, where one or more hazardous
substances have not previously been classified and a full hazard and risk evaluation is required. The median processing time of
87 days for these applications reflects the time required to deliver robust decisions that will withstand international scrutiny.
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OUTPUT 3: RESOURCE MANAGEMENT DECISION MAKING
What we delivered
We managed Resource Management Act applications considered to be of national significance. These applications were
submitted directly to the EPA under section 145 of the Resource Management Act 1991.
We:
»» assessed an application for call-in10
»» processed applications made directly to the EPA for resource consents or changes to resource consents,
»» processed requests for changes to plans and notices of requirement for a designation or to alter a designation.
Decision making in relation to this output covers pre-application discussions with applicants, assessing applications, providing
advice to the Minister, managing public participation through submissions and hearings, supporting Boards of Inquiry in
considering applications, and releasing decisions.
How well we delivered it
PERFORMANCE MEASURES

STANDARD 2011-12

ACTUAL 2011-12

STANDARD MET

All called-in applications processed within statutory timeframes.

100%

N/A

N/A

All applications to the EPA assessed for national significance and
a recommendation made to the Minister within 20 working days.

100%

100%

Yes

All applications to the EPA that are referred to a Board of Inquiry
processed within the statutory time frame of nine months, unless
the timeframe is extended by the relevant Minister.

100%

100%

Yes

All Boards of Inquiry are satisfied with the support provided by
the EPA.

100%

100%

Yes

No decisions
overturned

No decisions
overturned

Yes

No decisions overturned on judicial review on a matter of process.

So that... we improve the implementation of the resource management framework to manage environmental effects and
allocate resources within environmental limits

	Call in: the Minister for the Environment makes a decision on whether to direct the matter to a Board of Inquiry or the Environment Court, or to the local authority, after receiving the
EPA’s recommendation.

10
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Further performance information
Number of Resource Management applications
APPLICATION TYPE

Call-ins and other ministerial interventions
Applications of national significance lodged with the EPA

TOTAL

FORECAST
2011-12

ACTUAL 2011-12

OUTCOME

Unknown

0

N/A

8

4

Details below

Transmission Gully
(notices of requirements
and resource consents)

Board of Inquiry
decision June 2012

Whakapapa Skifield

Referred to Ruapehu
District Council

NZ King Salmon

Board of Inquiry
underway

MacKays to Peka Peka
State Highway 1.

Board of Inquiry
underway

8

4

Note: decisions on applications are made by the Boards of Inquiry, not by the EPA.
Note: The Exclusive Economic Zone (Environmental Effects) Act received royal assent on 3 September 2012. Once regulations are
promulgated (expected in 2013), we will have new functions in deciding marine consent applications, as well as monitoring and
enforcement of the environmental effects of activities in the EEZ.
Note: Decisions were also made on applications lodged prior to 1 July 2011; Wiri Men’s Prison, Turitea Wind Farm, and the Transmission
Gully Plan Change.
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OUTPUT 4: HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCE, NEW ORGANISM, OZONEDEPLETING SUBSTANCE AND HAZARDOUS WASTE COMPLIANCE
What we delivered
We coordinated and facilitated compliance, along with other agencies, with hazardous substance approvals under the
Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act 1996, Part 4 of the Ozone Layer Protection Act 1996, and the relevant provisions
of the Import and Export (Restrictions) Act 1988 and the Imports and Exports (Restrictions) Prohibition Order (No 2) 2004.
We monitored and facilitated compliance with new organism approvals, including conducting necessary inquiries into new
organism incidents, and developing and maintaining policies and procedures relating to new organism compliance.
How well we delivered it
PERFORMANCE MEASURES

All central government enforcement agencies regard the annual
HSNO Act compliance activities and intentions report to be fair
and accurate and consider they had an acceptable opportunity
to provide input into the process and report.
A programme of audits of test certifiers is developed and
implemented by 30 June 2012.
A survey shows that at least 80% of users of information
and advice on hazardous substances and ozone-depleting
substances find the information provided to be clear, helpful and
fit for purpose.
A compliance and enforcement strategy for ozone-depleting
substances, certain chemicals and hazardous waste controlled
by international conventions is developed and implemented by
30 June 2012.
No incidents causing adverse effects of new organisms are caused
by inadequate implementation of controls.

STANDARD 2011-12

ACTUAL 2011-12

STANDARD MET

100%

100%

Yes

Programme
developed and
implemented

Achieved

Yes

80%

56%11

No

Completed

Achieved

Yes

None

Achieved

Yes

So that... we achieve sustainable allocation and management of New Zealand’s natural and physical resources for
national benefit

	The first EPA customer survey undertaken in June 2012 provided a benchmark measure of satisfaction with services and information, which the EPA aims to improve on an annual basis
where we have fallen below our goals.

11
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OUTPUT 5: PROMOTING AWARENESS AND COMPLIANCE
What we delivered
We aim to increase understanding and knowledge of the safe use of hazardous substances and new organisms, and support
compliance with controls and conditions. During the year we:
»» promoted public awareness and knowledge of the safety rules, compliance regime and regulatory framework
»» developed the awareness of iwi/Māori about EPA matters and encouraged their participation.
How well we delivered it
PERFORMANCE MEASURES

STANDARD 2011-12

ACTUAL 2011-12

STANDARD MET

70% of people surveyed find EPA’s information easy to access and
easy to understand.

70%

54%12

No

At least 90% of Māori participants surveyed in the Māori
participation programmes rate them as good or very good.

90%

86%

No

At least 70% of Māori participants surveyed in the Māori
participation programmes rate the information in the
programmes as relevant or very relevant.

70%

100%

Yes

So that… we achieve better solutions to environmental problems by supporting community and Māori involvement
and action

12
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	The first EPA customer survey undertaken in June 2012 provided a benchmark measure of satisfaction with services and information, which the EPA aims to improve on an annual basis
where we have fallen below our goals
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OUTPUT 6: GOVERNMENT POLICY, LEGISLATION AND
INTERNATIONAL ACTIVITIES
What we delivered
We advised on the implementation of Government policy and legislation relevant to the Hazardous Substances and New
Organisms Act, the Ozone Layer Protection Act, the Imports and Exports (Restrictions) Act and the Imports and Exports
(Restrictions) Prohibition Order.
We monitored and reviewed the effectiveness of the HSNO Act regime, working to ensure inconsistencies or conflicts between
these Acts and other legislation are minimised.
We participated in international developments in the management of hazardous substances, hazardous waste and new
organisms. The output comprises:
»» providing input into ministerial correspondence and responses to parliamentary questions and briefing papers
»» participating in the development of Government policy, legislation and regulations
»» monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the HSNO Act
»» advising on the operation of the Ozone Layer Protection Act and related regulations, and the Imports and Exports
(Restrictions) Act and Imports and Exports (Restrictions) Prohibition Order
»» participating in and representing New Zealand’s interests in the work of international bodies dealing with chemicals
regulations, international convention chemicals and ozone-depleting substances, hazardous substances, hazardous
waste and new organisms; providing the annual New Zealand contribution to the OECD Part II Programme on the
Control of Chemicals.
The volume of activity in this output is demand driven.
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How well we delivered it
PERFORMANCE MEASURES

STANDARD 2011-12

ACTUAL 2011-12

STANDARD MET

100%

100%

Yes

Satisfied

Satisfied*

Yes

The annual monitoring report on the effectiveness of the
HSNO Act is compiled by 30 June 2012 and is submitted
to the Minister.

Compiled by 30 June
2012 and submitted
to the Minister

Compiled by
30 June but
submitted after
review in August
2012

No

EPA advice and input into international activities is
provided in accordance with an annual plan of
participation (prepared by 31 August 2011) to the
satisfaction of the Ministry for the Environment.

Annual Plan prepared
by 31 August 2011
to the satisfaction of
the Ministry

Achieved

Yes

Report provided
to the Minister by
30 June 2012 and
accepted

Achieved

Yes

100% of responses to ministerial correspondence and
parliamentary questions are completed to the satisfaction
of the Ministry for the Environment within 5 days (or as
otherwise agreed).
Ministry for the Environment is satisfied with the timeliness
and quality of EPA advice and input into government policy
activities, as measured by formal and informal feedback.

The annual report to the international Ozone Secretariat
required by Article 7 of the Montreal Protocol is provided
by 30 June 2012 and is accepted.

So that… we achieve better solutions to environmental problems by supporting community and Māori involvement and
action, and international cooperation
Further performance information
*35 requests for information were received. All timeliness requirements met, with no reworking or other quality issues.
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OUTPUT 7: RESOURCE MANAGEMENT ADVICE AND SUPPORT SERVICES
What we delivered
We provided information, advice and support services in connection with Resource Management Act processes at a national
level and developed the frameworks for effective decision making. This included:
»» developing and maintaining policies, procedures and best practice solutions related to resource management
decision making
»» increasing the pool of potential Board of Inquiry members with appropriate certification and competencies
»» improving stakeholders’ understanding of the application process and public awareness of how to have their
say on applications
»» maintaining strategic relationships, particularly with the Environment Court, local government and other
state sector agencies
»» providing support to Boards of Inquiry appointed to inquire into and report on national policy statements; and Special
Tribunals appointed to consider proposed water conservation orders
»» providing advice and technical input to the Ministry for the Environment on national environmental standards and other
resource management matters.
How well we delivered it
PERFORMANCE MEASURES

STANDARD 2011-12

ACTUAL 2011-12

STANDARD MET

A survey of applicants (or potential applicants) finds that at least
80% regard the information and advice provided to be clear,
helpful and fit for purpose.

80%

69%13

No

A survey of submitters finds that at least 70% regard the
information and advice provided to be clear, helpful and
fit for purpose.

70%

69%13

No

Steady increase in the pool of resource management decision
makers with the skills to be appointed to Boards of Inquiry.

Increase

Achieved

Yes

Feedback from the Chairs of other national-level decision making
processes, in which the EPA has been involved, indicates that
they are satisfied with the support provided.

Satisfied

Partially
achieved

No

All, to the
satisfaction of the
requestor

Achieved

Yes

All requests for information and advice are responded to within
the agreed timeframes, to the satisfaction of the requestor
(MfE or MFAT), as measured by formal and informal feedback.

So that... we improve the implementation of the resource management framework to manage environmental effects and
allocate resources within environmental limits
Further performance information
Feedback has indicated that whilst some Chairs are satisfied with the processes and support provided, others expected more.
We have developed a draft base case for services and are engaging with Environmental Court Judges on it.

	Submitters and applicants – indicative only due to small sample

13
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OUTPUT 8: ADMINISTRATION OF THE EMISSIONS TRADING SCHEME (ETS)
What we delivered
We processed 154 allocations applications for ETS assistance and 67 emissions returns submitted for the ETS.
We made statutory decisions provided for under the Climate Change Response Act. These include Emissions Rulings, Unique
Emissions Factors, and the appointment of Verifiers for Unique Emissions Factors.14
We provided data about unit transactions to the Ministry for the Environment and the Minister of Finance to enable
management of the relevant Crown accounts. We also provided data to the Ministry for the Environment to help meet New
Zealand’s requirement to provide an annual inventory report and national communication to the United Nations.
We implemented initiatives to enhance understanding of the ETS, its systems and processes for those participating in the
Scheme. In particular, activities were undertaken to educate and inform allocation recipients of the application process.
Participant information sessions for synthetic greenhouse gas, and agriculture and waste participants were also held. Our
documentation was refined based on customer feedback to enhance customer interactions with the ETS. This has already
resulted in a 50 percent reduction in allocation application errors.
We ensured that compliance and enforcement activity was undertaken, either by the EPA or in conjunction with other
agencies. Our work in this area included reviewing applications, auditing participants, and applicants for allocations. We
worked with participants from new sectors to ease their entry into the ETS, and formally warned non-compliant participants of
their obligations to register with the ETS to ensure they met their responsibilities. We also audited the liquid fossil fuel sector,
covering the entire sector’s emissions profile.

14
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	See Glossary for explanation of terms.
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How well we delivered it
PERFORMANCE MEASURES

STANDARD 2011-12

ACTUAL 2011-12

STANDARD MET

90% of applications for allocations are processed within four
weeks of receiving the signed application summary.

90%

96%

Yes

No application decisions are revoked or varied on review as
requested by applicant.

None

No requests to
review decisions
were received

N/A

98% of participants are accurately recorded in the New Zealand
Emission Unit Register within two business days of receipt of a
properly completed application.

98%

100%

Yes

95% of decisions made are upheld on review.

95%

No requests to
review decisions
were received

N/A

The Ministry for the Environment is satisfied with the timeliness
and quality of EPA reporting on unit transactions and for
international reporting.

Satisfied

Satisfied

Yes

Review of the applications accepted and processed shows that
100% were correctly processed.

100%

100%

Yes

15

Achieved

Yes

Fifteen audits of industrial allocation applicants under the ETS are
completed in 2011-12.

So that... we decrease New Zealand net emissions of greenhouse gases below business as usual levels in a cost-effective way
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Further performance information
ETS applications processed by EPA
APPLICATION TYPE

ESTIMATED ACTUAL 2011-12*

ACTUAL 2011-12

Registration of participants in ETS

150-400

182

Allocation of New Zealand Units

150-200

154

*From the 2012-17 Statement of Intent, as a more appropriate estimate of processed applications
In the 2011-12 year the inclusion of the waste, synthetic greenhouse gases and agriculture sectors as compulsory activities saw
the number of participants increase by 182, taking the number of compulsory participants to 286. During the same period the
number of voluntary participants from the stationary energy and liquid fossil fuels sectors increased from six to ten.
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OUTPUT 9: OPERATION OF NEW ZEALAND EMISSION UNIT REGISTER
What we delivered
We operated the New Zealand Emission Unit Register (NZEUR) as part of the ETS to enable the allocation and trading of units
under the Climate Change Response Act 2002 and the Kyoto Protocol.
We received and processed 3,588 applications to be registered in the NZEUR. We opened, maintained and closed holding
accounts and managed the accounting, reporting and reconciliation of emissions and unit holdings and transactions.
We transferred Kyoto units and other information between the NZEUR and other national registries under the Kyoto Protocol,
completing more than 240 international transactions – seven times more international transactions than in 2010.
We transferred units between holding accounts within the NZEUR, recording more than 1,650 completed transactions.
We maintained the security and integrity of the NZEUR environment and reconciled New Zealand’s Kyoto unit holdings and
transactions with the International Transaction Log.
We have contracted the Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment to operate the 0800-CLIMATE helpline to assist
account holders with their interactions with the NZEUR, as well as general enquiries from the public regarding government
policy relating to climate change. We also operate a 24-hour emergency information line for users to report suspicious
activities involving their accounts. These services help reduce compliance costs and strengthen the security of the NZEUR.
How well we delivered it
PERFORMANCE MEASURES

STANDARD 2011-12

ACTUAL 2011-12

STANDARD MET

99%

99%

Yes

100%

100%

Yes

Successfully
reconciled

Successfully
reconciled

Yes

NZEUR is available for public access for 99% of the time
excluding scheduled outages.
100% of recorded entries in NZEUR are peer reviewed
for accuracy.
NZEUR is successfully reconciled with the International
Transaction Log.

So that... we decrease New Zealand’s net emissions of greenhouse gases below business as usual levels in a cost-effective way

Further performance information
Number of accounts
ACCOUNTS

ESTIMATED ACTUAL 2011-12*

Registration accounts in the NZEUR.

3,500

ACTUAL 2011-12

3,588

*From the 2012-17 Statement of Intent, as a more appropriate estimate of accounts.
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THE ORGANISATION
AND ITS CAPABILITY
GOVERNANCE, AND HOW WE ARE
DEVELOPING OUR CAPABILITY

SECTION TITLE

43

The organisation and
its capability
GOVERNANCE
The EPA comprises the Board and staff, supported and advised by Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao (the Māori Advisory
Committee). The Board reports to the Minister for the Environment (and also to the Minister for Climate Change on issues
relevant to his portfolio.)

Minister for the Environment

Reports to

Appoints

Minister for Climate Change Issues

Advises

Ministry for the Environment

EPA Board

Monitors and reports to the Government on
the EPA’s activities

Governs

Ngā Kaihautū
Tikanga Taiao

Environmental Protection Authority
Regulates hazardous substances and new organisms

Administers the Emissions Trading Scheme

Regulates importing and exporting hazardous waste
and ozone depleting substances

Consents for activities in New Zealand’s Exclusive Economic Zone

Facilitates applications for nationally significant proposals

Promotes public understanding and safety

Oversees compliance and enforcement

The EPA Board has between six and eight members appointed by the Minister for the Environment. The Board is responsible
for governing the organisation, including setting strategic direction and monitoring performance. It is also responsible for the
statutory functions set out in legislation, some of which are delegated to Board committees or the Chief Executive.
The Board usually meets monthly to carry out governance functions and deal with major issues. Out of session decisions are
made as required. The Board has delegated a range of powers to committees.
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Members of the Board at 30 June 2012
Kerry Prendergast (Chair)
Richard Woods (Deputy Chair)
David Faulkner
Anake Goodall
Tim Lusk
Graham Pinnell
Taria Tahana
Gillian Wratt
Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao
Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao (Ngā Kaihautū) has up to eight members who are appointed by the Board under Part 2 of the EPA
Act 2011. They are responsible for advising the EPA on tāngata whenua interests and concerns. Ngā Kaihautū is focused on
helping the EPA fully incorporate Māori perspectives and Treaty of Waitangi principles in its decision making.
Members of Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao from 1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012
»» Glenice Paine, Tumuaki (Chair) Te Atiawa, Ngāi Tahu
»» Te Kei Merito, Tumuaki Tuarua (Deputy Chair) Ngāti Awa, Te Arawa, Tainui (term ended December 2011)
»» Dr Nicholas (Nick) Roskruge, Te Atiawa ki Taranaki, Ngāti Tama
»» Dr James Ataria, Rongomaiwahine, Ngāti Kahungunu, Ngāti Tuwharetoa
»» Darcia Solomon, Ngāi Tahu, Rangitane, Ngāti Kuia, Ngāti Apa, Ngāti Toa, Ngāti Raukawa, Te Atiawa
(term ended December 2011)
»» James Doherty, Ngāti Tāwhaki, Ngāti Kahungunu, Ngāti Ruāpani, Ngāti Awa, Ngāti Hokopū, Ngāi Tūhoe
(appointed October 2011)
»» Wharemāwhai Mina Timutimu, Te Ati Awa, Ngāti Rāhiri (appointed October 2011)
»» Steven (Tīpene) Wilson, Ngāti Koroki Kahukura, Ngāti Tura, Ngāti Te Ngākau (appointed May 2012)
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Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Committee
The HSNO Committee is a statutory committee with delegated decision making powers relating to applications made under
the Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act 1996.
Members of the HSNO Committee at 30 June 2012 were:
Richard Woods (Chair)
Dr Manuka Henare
Dr Max Suckling
Helen Atkins LLB.
Dr Deborah Read
Dr Shaun Ogilvie
Dr Val Orchard
Board committees
The Board has appointed two standing committees to assist it in carrying out its governance responsibilities. These are the:
»» Audit and Risk Committee, which oversees the accountability processes and financial and organisational risk matters
»» Performance Review and Remuneration Committee, which monitors the Chief Executive’s performance and approves
salaries for senior staff members.
Staff
The staff of the EPA support the Board in carrying out its statutory functions and are responsible for delegated decision making
in a number of areas. The organisation is structured into six groups, each of which is led by a general manager. They are:
»» Applications and Assessment
»» Compliance
»» Corporate Services
»» Emissions Trading Scheme
»» Kaupapa Kura Taiao
»» Policy and Legal.

DEVELOPING ORGANISATIONAL CAPABILITY
During its first year the EPA has achieved a significant amount in terms of developing our organisational capability including:
»» development of a new vision and values
»» restructuring the organisation to improve efficiencies and to future proof the organisation
»» development of a new risk management framework and register
»» undertaking staff and customer satisfaction surveys at the end of this financial year to enable the organisation to set
benchmarks for the 2012-13 year
»» setting up a programme to review all existing policies over a twelve month period
»» moving the EPA in to new accommodation by the end of August 2012.
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MEASURING OUR PROGRESS
During the year we have been monitoring our progress towards key capability targets:
TARGET

ACHIEVEMENT

Staff development and performance plans will be
in place and reviewed regularly.

Performance plans are in place for all staff and are reviewed
regularly. All managers have a performance objective in their
performance plans to ensure that this occurs.

Individual training needs will be assessed and
programmes put in place.

Individual training needs are assessed and documented as part
of staff performance plans.

Leadership training initiatives will be in place.

A number of the managers have attended the “Building
Capable Managers Course”. Over the next twelve months an
organisational development plan is being developed which
includes further leadership training initiatives.
All managers are enrolled with the Leadership Development
Centre and participate in programmes and workshops.

External salary comparisons will be conducted regularly
and adjustments made as required.

Following an organisational restructure in May 2012, roles were
sized and new salary bands have been implemented.

Recruitment activity, trends, and time to fill vacancies
will be monitored and reported.

Due to the fact that the EPA only came in to operation on 1
July 2011 and the ETS staff joined it in December 2011, trend
analysis is not meaningful.
An HR activities report which includes all recruitment activity
is provided fortnightly to the Executive Leadership Team.

Responses to entry and exit surveys will be reviewed
and recommendations for improvements implemented
where feasible.

Exit interviews are undertaken and, where trends are identified,
recommendations are made for improvements.
New starter surveys are completed and any concerns brought
to the attention of management.

GOOD EMPLOYER OBLIGATIONS
A range of measures have been identified as key markers of a good employer. We have collected data on these during the
year and will use them for a benchmarking exercise in 2012-13, reporting to the Human Rights Commission, and to improve
our performance. Obligations are monitored in the following areas:
»» leadership, accountability and culture
»» recruitment, selection and induction
»» employee development, promotion, and exit processes
»» flexibility and work design
»» remuneration, recognition and conditions
»» harrassment and bullying prevention
»» safe and healthy environment.
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GOOD EMPLOYER OBLIGATIONS

RESULT

LEADERSHIP, ACCOUNTABILITY AND CULTURE
Ensure that the vision developed for the new organisation
articulates commitment to equality and diversity.

A new vision was developed for the EPA which articulates that
we will enable better future environments for New Zealanders.

The leadership team encourages the development of a
culture that is supportive and equitable for all staff.

The leadership team worked with staff to develop a new set
of values and put an implementation plan in place to ensure
they are imbedded in the organisation.
A monthly Chief Executive award is given for staff who have
demonstrated one or more of the new values.

Encourage the development of a learning culture that
will enhance the EPA’s performance while supporting the
aspirations of the staff.

One of the new values is “We Learn”. There is an organisational
commitment to staff learning which includes secondments, and
“acting up” opportunities as well as informal and formal training.

RECRUITMENT, SELECTION AND INDUCTION
Ensure the continued use of robust and transparent
recruitment and selection processes.

Recruitment is managed by the Human Resources section to
ensure that our processes meet legislative requirements and
are transparent. All recruitment processes are documented
and templates are provided to ensure consistency.

Use innovative channels to attract diverse applicants.

We use a number of channels to attract applicants including
newspapers, websites, job fairs, international agencies,
and journals.

EEO: Monitor candidate and workforce demographics
in relation to age, ethnicity, gender and disability.

Information is collected relating to staff demographics and
a report provided to management. Due to the specialist
nature of our work we have a significant number of staff from
around the globe.
The EPA is committed to providing equal opportunity to all
employees with respect to compensation, promotion, transfers
and all other terms and conditions of employment. The EPA
will provide opportunities that will enable employees to
advance on merit as far as their talents and skills will take them.
We provide flexible working conditons to allow people with
disabilities to work for the EPA.

EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT, PROMOTION AND EXIT PROCESSES
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The EPA will provide equal access to personal development
and activities that may lead to promotion.

All staff are encouraged to access personal development
opportunities through secondments and “acting up” when
managers are away. Each staff member has a development
plan and is encouraged to identify where they want to take
their career.

Our performance management practices will be
transparent and fair.

Staff performance plans are reviewed with staff on a
regular basis. An annual review is undertaken which is the
culmination of the regular reviews. Staff are assessed against
objectives and competencies agreed at the beginning of the
performance year.

Staff will have the opportunity to complete a
confidential exit survey.

All staff are given the opportunity to complete a confidential
exit interview either on-line or in person.
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GOOD EMPLOYER OBLIGATIONS

RESULT

FLEXIBILITY AND WORK DESIGN
Work towards an organisation-wide flexible work programme Staff are able to work flexible hours including part-time or
to recognise the needs of parents and other care givers.
working from home.
Provide facilities for the use of parents.

There is a private room available for the use of parents.

REMUNERATION, RECOGNITION AND CONDITIONS
Continue to provide transparent, equitable and
gender-neutral job evaluation processes.

Our job evaluation processes are based on the role and job
description to provide a transparent evaluation process.

The remuneration system will be reviewed regularly.

The remuneration system is reviewed on an annual basis.

HARASSMENT AND BULLYING PREVENTION
Relevant policies and the code of conduct will be
promoted to staff.

All new staff sign to say that they have read the code of
conduct. We regularly review the policies and post them on
the intranet to remind staff of them. The full Corporate Manual
is also available to all staff.

Managers and staff are trained in their responsibilities.

All new staff are provided with induction training and made
aware of their responsibilities.

The leadership team ensures that there is zero tolerance
of harassment and bullying.

The EPA has zero tolerance to bullying and if identified it would
be dealt with promptly and in an appropriate manner.

SAFE AND HEALTHY ENVIRONMENT
Create an environment that supports employee
participation in health and safety.

The EPA has an active Health and Safety Committee with
participation from staff across the whole organisation.

Take a proactive approach to employee health
and well-being.

All staff receive worksite assessments when they join the EPA,
when they shift to a new desk, or have signs of discomfort.
Yoga and massages are provided on site (at staff’s own
expense).

Staff will have easy access to the Employee Assistance
Programme.

The EPA has an Employee Assistance Programme with an 0800
number. The information is provided on the staff intranet or
through HR.

Our human resources policies will reflect these
commitments and our progress will be reported to
the Human Rights Commission annually.

Our human resources policies are reviewed regularly to ensure
that they meet the requirements for the organisation. We
report our progress to the Human Rights Commission annually.
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Ethnicity of staff
European

55%

Maori

3%

Asian

7%

Pacific

1%

Other/unspecified

34%

TECHNOLOGY AND ASSETS
Information technology
New application workflows for the business units will continue to be built on existing IT platforms. The EPA website now
incorporates all aspects of the EPA’s work, including links to other specialised sites – the climate change website www.
climatechange.govt.nz, and the emission unit register www.eur.govt.nz. Further adjustments to the EPA website will be made
during the 2012-13 year to streamline delivery of information to external audiences.
The EPA’s intranet is being redeveloped in SharePoint to align it with the EPA’s other systems.
Information management
We meet the requirements of the Public Records Act 2005 and the Official Information Act 1982 by providing appropriate
responses to all requests within statutory timeframes. We will use our electronic document and records management
system and paper records to ensure that information is in an easily searchable system and that we retain and archive
important documents.
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FINANCIAL AND NON-FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE MEASURES
UNIT

FORECAST 2011-12

ACTUAL

$000

2,241

8,258

%

214

350

%

68

33

WORKING CAPITAL
Net current assets
Current ratio
RESOURCE UTILISATION
Fixed assets as % of total assets
Additions as % of fixed assets

%

48

18

Fixed assets per FTE

$000

57

40

Accommodation cost per FTE

$000

7

8

%

N/A

N/A15

Years

N/A

N/A15

Number

158

146

Professional Development as % of personnel expenses

%

4

4.2

Average annual leave liability as % of annual entitlement

%

50

63%

% female
% male

N/A
N/A

64% female,
36% male

Years

N/A

40.5

Number of
clients/sessions

N/A

8/18

Reported issues

N/A

5 personal
5 work

Accidents and Incidents

Total number

N/A

8

Work related ACC claims

Number

N/A

0

Serious harm incidents

Number

N/A

0

HUMAN RESOURCES
Staff turnover
Average length of service
Total FTEs

Gender balance
Average age as at 30 June 2012
Employee Assistance Programme usage

	First year of operation

15
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FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

SECTION TITLE
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Financial Statements
Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2012

NOTES

ACTUAL
2012
$000

BUDGET
2012
$000

2

18,947

20,047

182

84

3

4,771

24,620

28

23,900

44,751

4

11,316

12,709

21

331

369

INCOME
Revenue from the Crown
Interest income
Other income
TOTAL REVENUE
EXPENDITURE
Personnel costs
Board member remuneration
Boards of Inquiry fees

834

6,905

1,165

1,476

6

9,071

23,292

28

22,717

44,751

1,183

-

-

-

1,183

-

Depreciation and amortisation expense
Other expenses
TOTAL EXPENDITURE
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)
Other comprehensive income
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Note 1 refers to the financial policies of the EPA.
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2012

NOTES

ACTUAL
2012
$000

BUDGET
2012
$000

Cash and cash equivalents

7

6,485

2,201

Debtors and other receivables

8

1,014

904

Investments

9

4,000

1,000

55

109

11,554

4,214

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment

10

2,254

3,102

Intangible assets

11

3,531

5,949

5,785

9,051

17,339

13,265

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Creditors and other payables

12

1,900

1,117

Employee entitlements

13

945

856

Provisions

14

451

-

Borrowings

15

-

-

3,296

1,973

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Employee entitlements

13

121

86

Provisions

14

-

161

Borrowings

15

-

-

121

247

3,417

2,220

13,922

11,045

13,922

11,045

13,922

11,045

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
EQUITY
General funds
TOTAL EQUITY
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2012

NOTES

ACTUAL
2012
$000

-

-

16

12,739

11,045

1,183

-

13,922

11,045

BALANCE AT 1 JULY
Capital contribution
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
BALANCE AT 30 JUNE
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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16

BUDGET
2012
$000

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2012

NOTES

ACTUAL
2012
$000

BUDGET
2012
$000

2

18,947

20,047

143

77

Receipts from other revenue

3,977

23,877

Payments to suppliers

(9,180)

(30,242)

(10,995)

(12,450)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from Crown revenue
Interest received

Payments to employees
Goods and services tax (net)
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

86
17

(65)

2,978

1,244

(1,297)

(3,390)

(683)

(961)

(4,000)

(1,000)

(5,980)

(5,351)

9,487

3,100

NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

9,487

3,100

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held

6,485

(1,007)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Acquisitions of investments
NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Capital contribution

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR

7

-

3,208

6,485

2,201

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in note 28.
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements
1. 	STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES FOR THE YEAR ENDED
30 JUNE 2012
Reporting entity
The Environmental Protection Authority is a Crown entity for the purposes of the Crown Entities Act 2004 and is referred
to throughout this Annual Report as the EPA. This inclusive term is used unless referring to the exercise of specific statutory
powers and functions or specific responsibilities of the legal entity, or where reference to one of the elements of the
EPA is required for clarity. The EPA was established under the Environmental Protection Authority Act 2011 (EPA Act) and
commenced activities on 1 July 2011. The EPA is domiciled in New Zealand and the ultimate parent is the New Zealand Crown.
The primary objective of the EPA is to contribute to the efficient, effective, and transparent management of New Zealand’s
environment and natural and physical resources and enable New Zealand to meet its international obligations under
environmental Acts.
Accordingly, the EPA has designated itself as a public benefit entity for the purposes of New Zealand Equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS).
The financial statements of the EPA are for the year ended 30 June 2012, and were approved by the Board of the
Environmental Protection Authority on 30 October 2012. As the EPA is a new Crown agent in its first year of operation,
there are no comparative figures for previous years.
The EPA Act 2011 also set up the following:
»» Disestablishment of the Environmental Risk Management Authority (ERMA New Zealand) and transfer of all its assets and
liabilities to the EPA on 1 July 2011.
»» Disestablishment of the Environmental Protection Authority that was established by section 42B of the Resource
Management Act 1991 and transfer of all its assets and liabilities to the EPA on 1 July 2011.
»» Transfer of the functions of the Emissions Trading Scheme under the Climate Change Response Act 2002 and transfer of all
its assets and liabilities to the EPA on 5 December 2011.
Basis of preparation
Statement of Compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Crown Entities Act 2004, which
includes the requirement to comply with New Zealand generally accepted accounting practice (NZ GAAP).
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP as appropriate for a public benefit entity and
they comply with NZ IFRS.
Measurement basis
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except where modified by the revaluation of certain
items of property, plant and equipment, and the measurement of investments at fair value.
Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars
($000). The functional currency of the EPA is New Zealand dollars.
Changes in accounting policies
There have been no changes in accounting policies during the financial year.
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Standards, amendments and interpretations issued that are not yet effective and have not been
early adopted
Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective that have not been early adopted and which are
relevant to the EPA, are:
»» NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments will eventually replace NZ IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
NZ IAS 39 is being replaced through the following three main phases: Phase 1 Classification and Measurement, Phase 2
Impairment Methodology, and Phase 3 Hedge Accounting. Phase 1 on the classification and measurement of financial
assets has been completed and has been published in the new financial instrument standard NZ IFRS 9. NZ IFRS 9 uses
a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortised cost or fair value, replacing the many
different rules in NZ IAS 39. The approach in NZ IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments (its
business model) and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The financial liability requirements
are the same as those of NZ IAS 39, except for when an entity elects to designate a financial liability at fair value through
the surplus/deficit. The new standard is required to be adopted for the year ended 30 June 2016. However, as a new
Accounting Standards Framework will apply before this date, there is no certainty when an equivalent standard to NZ IFRS
9 will be applied by public benefit entities.
The Minister of Commerce has approved a new Accounting Standards Framework (incorporating a Tier Strategy) developed
by the External Reporting Board (XRB). Under this Accounting Standards Framework, the EPA is classified as a Tier 1 reporting
entity and it will be required to apply full Public Benefit Entity Accounting Standards (PAS). These standards are being
developed by the XRB based on current International Public Sector Accounting Standards. The effective date for the new
standards for public sector entities is expected to be for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014. This means the
EPA expects to transition to the new standards in preparing its 30 June 2015 financial statements. As the PAS are still under
development, the EPA is unable to assess the implications of the new Accounting Standards Framework at this time.
Due to the change in the Accounting Standards Framework for public benefit entities, it is expected that all new NZ IFRS and
amendments to existing NZ IFRS will not be applicable to public benefit entities. Therefore, the XRB has effectively frozen
the financial reporting requirements for public benefit entities up until the new Accounting Standard Framework is effective.
Accordingly, no disclosure has been made about new or amended NZ IFRS that exclude public benefit entities from their scope.
Significant Accounting Policies
Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.
Revenue from the Crown
The EPA is primarily funded through revenue received from the Crown, which is restricted in its use for the purpose of the EPA
meeting its objectives as specified in the Statement of Intent.
Revenue from the Crown is recognised when earned and is reported in the financial period to which it relates. Operating
revenue from the Crown is subject to appropriation under Vote Environment. The total amount appropriated within the NonDepartmental Output Class is accounted for as income.
Interest
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. Interest income on an impaired financial asset is recognised
using the original effective interest rate.
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Provision of services
Revenue derived through the provision of services to third parties is recognised in proportion to the stage of completion at
the balance sheet date. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to the stage of work performed.
Capital charge
Changes to the capital charge rules from 1 July 2011 mean that the EPA will not be required to pay any capital charge, since
the EPA total net assets did not exceed $15 million.
Leases
Operating leases
Leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to the EPA are classified as
operating leases. Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straight‑line basis over the term
of the lease.
Lease incentives received are recognised in the surplus or deficit over the lease term as an integral part of the total lease
expense.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid
investments, with original maturities of three months or less.
Debtors and other receivables
Short-term debtors and other receivables are recorded at their face value, less any provision for impairment.
Impairment of a receivable is established when there is objective evidence that the EPA will not be able to collect amounts
due according to the original terms of the receivable. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the
debtor will enter into bankruptcy, and default in payments are considered indicators that the debtor is impaired. The amount
of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted using the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use
of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. When the
receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for receivables. Overdue receivables that have been
renegotiated are reclassified as current (that is, not past due).
Investments
At each balance date, the EPA assesses whether there is any objective evidence that an investment is impaired. The EPA
investments are all in bank deposits.
Bank Deposits
Investments in bank deposits are initially measured at fair value.
After initial recognition, investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any provision
for impairment.
For bank deposits, impairment is established when there is objective evidence that the EPA will not be able to collect amounts
due according to the original terms of the deposit. Significant financial difficulties of the bank, probability that the bank will
enter into receivership or liquidation, and default in payments are considered indicators that the deposit is impaired.
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Accounting for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
The EPA does not use any derivative financial instruments to hedge exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising
from financing activities. The EPA does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
Non-current assets held for sale
The EPA does not have any assets that are classified as held for sale.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment consist of computer hardware, furniture and fixtures, leasehold improvements and
office equipment.
Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost or valuation, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Additions
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset only when it is probable that future economic
benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the EPA and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Work in progress is recognised at cost less impairment and is not depreciated.
In most instances, an item of property, plant and equipment is initially recognised at its cost. Where an asset is acquired
at no cost, or for a nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value as at the date of acquisition.
Disposals
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset. Gains and
losses on disposals are included in the statement of comprehensive income.
Subsequent costs
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised only when it is probable that future economic benefits or
service potential associated with the item will flow to the EPA and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the surplus or deficit as they are incurred.
Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment at rates that will write off the cost (or
valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual values over their useful lives. The useful lives and associated depreciation
rates of major classes of assets have been estimated as follows:
Computer hardware
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements
Office equipment

3 to 4 years

(25% - 33%)

6 years

(16.7%)

6 to 9 years

(11% - 16.7%)

6 years

(16.7%)

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated remaining useful lives of the
improvements, whichever is the shorter.
The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, and adjusted if applicable, at least each financial year-end.
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Intangible assets
Software acquisition and development
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software.
Costs that are directly associated with the development of software for internal use are recognised as an intangible asset.
Direct costs include software development and the appropriate portion of employee costs and relevant overheads.
Staff training costs are recognised as an expense when incurred. Costs associated with maintaining computer software are
recognised as an expense when incurred.
Costs associated with development and maintenance of the EPA’s website are recognised as an expense when incurred.
Amortisation
The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life. Amortisation
begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at the date that the asset is derecognised. The amortisation charge for
each period is recognised in the surplus or deficit.
The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major classes of intangible assets have been estimated as follows:
Computer software

3 to 8 years

(12.5% - 33%)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that have a finite useful life are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an asset where the future economic benefits or service potential of the asset
are not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate net cash inflows and where the EPA would, if deprived of the
asset, replace its remaining future economic benefits or service potential.
If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is impaired and the carrying amount is written-down
to the recoverable amount. For non-financial assets, the total impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit. The
reversal of an impairment loss is also recognised in the surplus or deficit.
Creditors and other payables
Short-term creditors and other payables are recorded at face value.
Borrowings
The EPA does not have any borrowings.
Employee entitlements
Short-term employee entitlements
Employee benefits that are due to be settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employee renders the
related services are measured at nominal values based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay.
These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date and annual leave earned but not yet taken at balance date, and
sick leave where applicable.

62

EPA ANNUAL REPORT 2011-2012

A liability for sick leave is recognised to the extent that absences in the coming year are expected to be greater than the sick
leave entitlements earned in the coming year. The amount is calculated based on the unused sick leave entitlement that can
be carried forward at balance date, to the extent that it will be used by staff to cover those future absences.
A liability and an expense are recognised for performance payments where there is a contractual obligation or where there is a
past practice that has created a constructive obligation.
Long-term employee entitlements
Employee benefits that are due to be settled beyond 12 months after the end of period in which the employee renders the
related service, such as long service and retirement leave entitlements, have been calculated on an actuarial basis.
The calculations are based on:
»» likely future entitlements accruing to staff, based on years of service, years to entitlement, the likelihood that staff will reach
the point of entitlement and contractual entitlements information; and
»» the present value of the estimated future cash flows.
The risk-free discount rates and the salary inflation rate are published by the Treasury for consolidation into Government’s
financial statement at 30 June 2012.
Superannuation schemes
Defined contribution schemes
Obligations for contribution to KiwiSaver is accounted for as a defined contribution superannuation scheme and is recognised
as an expense in the surplus or deficit as incurred.
Provisions
A provision for future expenditure of an uncertain amount or timing when there is a present obligation (either legal or
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of future economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pretax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.
The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as an interest expense and is included in “finance costs”.
Equity
Equity is measured as the difference between the total assets and total liabilities. Equity consists of general funds.
Goods and Service Tax (GST)
All items in the financial statements are stated exclusive of GST, except for receivables and payables which are stated on a GST
inclusive basis. Where GST is not recoverable as input tax, it is recognised as part of the related asset or expense.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Inland Revenue Department (IRD) is included as part of receivables
or payables in the statement of financial position.
The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and financing activities is classified as an
operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

63

Income Tax
The EPA is a public authority and consequently is exempt from the payment of income tax. Accordingly, no provision has been
made for income tax.
Budget figures
The budget figures are derived from the Statement of Intent as approved by the Board at the beginning of the financial year.
The budget figures have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP and using accounting policies that are consistent with
those adopted by the Board in preparing these financial statements.
Cost Allocation
The EPA has determined the cost of outputs using the cost allocation outlined below.
Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to an output. Indirect costs are those costs that cannot be identified in an
economically feasible manner with a specific output.
Direct costs are charged directly to outputs. Indirect costs are charged to outputs based on cost drivers and related activity or
usage information. Depreciation and property and other premises costs, such as maintenance, are charged on the basis of staff
numbers. Personnel costs are charged on the basis of actual time incurred.
All other costs are assigned to outputs on a proportional basis using direct personnel time as the cost driver, based on actual
data collected through the time recording system for the year.
There have been no changes to the cost allocation methodology since the publication of the Statement of Intent.
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
In preparing these financial statements, the EPA has made estimates and assumptions concerning the future. These estimates
and assumptions may differ from the subsequent actual results. Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations or future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed as follows.
Estimating useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment
At each balance date, the useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed. Assessing the
appropriateness of useful life and residual value estimates of property, plant and equipment requires a number of factors to be
considered such as the physical condition of the asset, expected period of use of the asset by the EPA and expected disposal
proceeds from the future sale of the asset.
An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value will affect the depreciation expense recognised in the surplus or deficit,
and the carrying amount of the asset in the statement of financial position.
The EPA minimises the risk of this estimation uncertainty by:
»» physical inspection of assets
»» asset replacement programmes
»» review of second hand market prices for similar assets
»» analysis of prior asset sales.
The EPA has not made significant changes to past assumptions concerning useful lives and residual values.
The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in note 10.
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Retirement and long service leave
Note 13 provides an analysis of the exposure in relation to estimates and uncertainties surrounding retirement and long
service leave liabilities.
Critical judgements in applying the EPA’s accounting policies
Management has exercised the following critical judgement in applying accounting policies.
Lease classification
Determining whether a lease agreement is a finance or an operating lease requires judgement as to whether the agreement
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the EPA.
Judgement is required on various aspects that include, but are not limited to, the fair value of the leased asset, the economic
life of the leased asset, whether or not to include renewal options in the lease term and determining an appropriate discount
rate to calculate the present value of the minimum lease payments. Classification as a finance lease means the asset is
recognised in the statement of financial position as property, plant and equipment, whereas for an operating lease no such
asset is recognised.
The EPA has exercised its judgement on the appropriate classification of equipment leases and has determined that a number
of lease arrangements are not finance leases.
Classification of intangible assets
The EPA purchased and developed a number of databases for the management of HSNO Act applications. These databases
are estimated to have a useful life of eight years. The EPA also took over the New Zealand Emission Unit Register developed by
the Ministry of Economic Development for the administration of the Emission Units. The estimated useful life of the Register is
about six years. In the event of a complete revamp of any database or the Register, the unamortised portion will be written off
in the surplus or deficit.
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2.

REVENUE FROM THE CROWN

The EPA has been provided with funding from the Crown for the specific purpose as set out in its founding legislation and
the scope of the relevant government appropriations. Apart from these restrictions, there are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies attached to government funding.
ACTUAL
2012
$000

Budgeted from the Crown as per Supplementary Estimates

21,592

Less in-principle expense transfer from 2011-12 to 2012-13

(2,645)

TOTAL

3.

18,947

OTHER REVENUE
ACTUAL
2012
$000

Hazardous substances Part 5 application fees
New organisms Part 5 application fees
Hazardous substances Part 6 application fees
Resource Management Act cost recovery fees
Other fees and revenue
TOTAL OTHER REVENUE

4.

449
89
145
3,919
169
4,771

PERSONNEL COSTS
ACTUAL
2012
$000

Salaries and wages

184

Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements (Note 13)

184

Other staff related costs

438

TOTAL PERSONNEL COSTS
Employer contributions to defined contribution plans include contributions to KiwiSaver and the Government
Superannuation Fund.

5.

CAPITAL CHARGE

The EPA does not pay a capital charge to the Crown on its taxpayers’ funds, as its net assets are below the threshold of
$15 million.
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11,316

6.

OTHER EXPENSES
ACTUAL
2012
$000

Fees to auditors - Audit New Zealand for audit of financial statements
Staff travel
Operating lease expense

52
726
1,356

ACC levy

71

Website development expenses

31

Consultancy*

4,137

Other

2,698

TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES

9,071

*Consultancy expenses include Boards of Inquiry $1,381,000 and EPA establishment $1,404,000.

7.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
ACTUAL
2012
$000

Cash on hand and at bank
Cash equivalents - term deposits
TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

8.

6,485
6,485

DEBTORS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
ACTUAL
2012
$000

Debtors and other receivables
Accrued interest
Less provision for impairment
TOTAL DEBTORS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

975
39
1,014

The carrying value of receivables approximates their fair value.
There is no carrying amount of receivables that are past due and renegotiated.
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9.

INVESTMENTS
ACTUAL
2012
$000

CURRENT INVESTMENTS ARE REPRESENTED BY:
Term deposits
TOTAL CURRENT PORTION AND INVESTMENTS

4,000
4,000

There were no impairment provisions for investments.
Maturity analysis and effective interest rates of term deposits
The maturity dates and weighted average effective interest rates for term deposits are as follows:
ACTUAL
2012
$000

Term deposits of maturities of 4-6 months
(average maturities - 163 days)

4,000

Weighted average effective interest rate

4.36%

The carrying amounts of term deposits with maturities less than twelve months approximate their fair value.
The fair values are based on discounted cash flows using market quoted interest rates for term deposits with terms to maturity
similar to the relevant investments.
The three term deposits between four to six months in 2012 were invested at fixed rates of 4.10%, 4.38% and 4.40%
respectively. As these term deposits were at a fixed interest rate and measured at amortised cost, an increase or decrease
in interest rates during the period did not impact the measurement of the investments. Hence, there was no impact on the
surplus or equity.
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:
COMPUTER
HARDWARE
$000

FURNITURE AND
FITTINGS
$000

OFFICE
EQUIPMENTOWNED
$000

LEASEHOLD
IMPROVEMENTS
$000

TOTAL
$000

Balance at 1 July 2011

1,313

487

364

1,019

3,183

Transferred from MED

855

-

-

-

855

Additions

238

167

117

1,064

1,586

Disposals

(77)

(33)

(11)

COST OR VALUATION

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2012

-

(121)

2,329

621

470

2,083

5,503

Balance at 1 July 2011

960

419

318

1,001

2,698

Transferred from MED

35

-

-

-

35

Depreciation expense

576

28

30

3

637

Eliminate on disposal

(77)

(33)

(11)

-

(121)

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2012

1,494

414

337

1,004

3,249

CARRYING AMOUNTS
At 1 July 2011

353

68

46

18

485

At 30 June 2012

835

207

133

1,079

2,254

Work-in-progress for property, plant and equipment was $1,098,000.
No impairment was established for any property, plant and equipment.
There are no finance leases at 30 June 2012.
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11.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Movement for each class of intangible asset is as follows:
ACQUIRED SOFTWARE
$000

COST
Balance at 1 July 2011
Additions
Transferred from MED
Disposals
BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2012

1,717
683
4,900
7,300

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSS
Balance at 1 July 2011

836

Amortisation expenses

528

Transferred from MED
Disposals
BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2012

2,405
3,769

CARRYING AMOUNTS
At 1 July 2011
At 30 June 2012

881
3,531

Work-in-progress for intangible assets at 30 June 2012 was $25,000.
There are no restrictions over the title of the EPA’s intangible assets, nor are any intangible assets pledged as security
for liabilities.

12. CREDITORS AND OTHER PAYABLES
ACTUAL
2012
$000

Creditors

102

Income in advance

112

Accrued expenses
Other payables
TOTAL CREDITORS AND OTHER PAYABLES

1,194
492
1,900

Creditors and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms, therefore the carrying value of
creditors and other payables approximates their fair value.
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13.

EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS
ACTUAL
2012
$000

CURRENT EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS ARE REPRESENTED BY:
Accrued salaries and wages

295

Accrued performance payments

96

Annual leave

536

Long service leave

18

TOTAL CURRENT EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

945

NON-CURRENT EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS ARE REPRESENTED BY:
Long service leave

104

Retirement leave

17

TOTAL INDIRECT EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

121

TOTAL EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

1,066

The present value of the long service and retirement leave obligations depend on a number of factors that are determined
on an actuarial basis using the model issued by the Treasury. Two key assumptions used in calculating this liability include the
discount rates and the salary inflation factor. Any changes in these assumptions will affect the carrying amount of the liability.
The discount rates and the salary inflation factor were published by the Treasury in July 2012 for the purposes of determining
liability at 30 June 2012. The discount rates used were: 1 year at 2.43%; 2 years at 2.47%; and 3 years+ at 6.00%. The salary
inflation factor was 3.5%.
If the discount rates were to differ by 1% from that used, with all other factors held constant, the carrying amount of the long
service and retirement leave liability would be an estimated $5,000 higher/lower.
If the long term salary inflation factor were to differ by 1% from that used, with all other factors held constant, the carrying
amount of the long service and retirement liability would be an estimated $7,000 higher/lower.

14. PROVISIONS
Provision is made for the estimated cost expected to be incurred to reinstate leased accommodation at the conclusion
of leases.
ACTUAL
2012
$000

CURRENT PROVISIONS ARE REPRESENTED BY:
Lease make-good

161

Onerous contract

290

TOTAL CURRENT PORTION

451

TOTAL PROVISIONS

451

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

71

Movements for each class of provision are as follows:
ACTUAL
2012
$000

Balance at 1 July

161

Additional provisions made – onerous contract

290

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2012

451

Lease make-good
The EPA took over the lease of the premises from the Environmental Risk Management Authority on 1 July 2011. In respect
of the leased premises, the EPA is required at the expiry of the lease term to make good any damage caused to the premises
from installed fixtures and fittings and to remove any fixtures or fittings installed by the Authority. In this case, the EPA has
the option to renew these leases but chose not to renew the lease and planned to vacate the premises by March 2013. As
the lease will expire in March 2013, the cash-flow associated with the current portion of the lease make-good provision is
expected to occur by March 2013. The EPA has determined that the current provision is sufficient to cover the future estimated
costs of any damage to the premises. Information about the EPA’s leasing arrangements is disclosed in Note 18.
Onerous contract provision
The EPA has a non-cancellable lease for office accommodation that will not be fully utilised by the EPA from 1 September 2012.
The lease does not expire until 31 March 2013. A provision has been recognised for the obligation from 1 September 2012
until 31 March 2013.

15. BORROWINGS
The EPA did not enter into other borrowing arrangement or financial leases in 2011-12.

16. EQUITY
ACTUAL
2012
$000

GENERAL FUNDS
Capital contribution from the Crown

3,838

Assets transferred from MED

5,756

Net assets transferred from ERMA

3,145

Surplus/(deficit)

1,183

TOTAL EQUITY 30 JUNE 2012
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13,922

17.	RECONCILIATION OF NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) TO NET CASH
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
ACTUAL
2012
$000

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) AFTER TAX

1,183

Add/(less) non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense

1,165

TOTAL NON-CASH ITEMS

1,165

ADD/(LESS) ITEMS CLASSIFIED AS INVESTING OR FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
(Gains)/losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment

(1)

TOTAL ITEMS CLASSIFIED AS INVESTING OR FINANCING ACTIVITIES

(1)

ADD/(LESS) MOVEMENT IN WORKING CAPITAL ITEMS:
Debtors and other receivables

(1,069)

Creditors and other payables

1,226

Provisions – onerous contract

290

Employee entitlements

184

NET MOVEMENTS IN WORKING CAPITAL ITEMS

631

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2,978

18. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND OPERATING LEASES
ACTUAL
2012
$000

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Property, plant and equipment

953

Intangible assets

595

TOTAL CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

1,548

Capital commitments represent capital expenditure contracted for at balance date but not yet incurred.
Operating leases as lessee
The future aggregate minimum lease payments to be paid under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
ACTUAL
2012
$000

Not later than one year

1,128

Later than one year and not later than five years

4,555

Later than five years

4,559

TOTAL NON-CANCELLABLE OPERATING LEASES

10,242

Operating lease commitment includes the leases for two properties, one of which is the new premises that the EPA moved to
in August 2012. The EPA occupies five floors of the new premises, with two rights to renewal to 2027.
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19. CONTINGENCIES
Contingent assets or liabilities
The EPA is not aware of the existence of any contingent assets or liabilities as at 30 June 2012.

20.	RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
The EPA is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The Government influences the roles of the entity as well as being its major
source of revenue.
Significant transactions with government-related entities
The EPA has been provided with funding from the Crown of $18.9 million for specific purposes as set out in its founding
legislation and the scope of the relevant government appropriations.
Collectively, but not individually, significant transactions with government-related entities
In conducting its activities, the EPA is required to pay various taxes and levies (such as GST, FBT, PAYE, and ACC levies) to
the Crown and entities related to the Crown. The payment of these taxes and levies, other than income tax, is based on the
standard terms and conditions that apply to all tax and levy payers. The EPA is exempt from paying income tax.
The EPA also purchases goods and services from entities controlled, significantly influenced, or jointly controlled by the
Crown. Purchases from these government-related entities for the year ended 30 June 2012 totalled $366,000. These purchases
included air travel from Air New Zealand and postal services from New Zealand Post.
Key management personnel
The following transactions were entered into during the year with key management personnel:
»» University of Auckland, the employer of Manuka Henare, paid an IBSC renewal fee and made one application (total fees
$1,050) to the EPA for approval to carry out laboratory research on micro-organisms.
»» Lincoln University, the employer of Shaun Ogilvie, paid an IBSC renewal fee ($50).
The EPA employed close family members of key management personnel on a casual basis during the school and university
holiday period. The terms and conditions of those arrangements were no more favourable than the EPA would have adopted if
there was no relationship involved.
No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised for impairment of receivables from related parties.
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Key management personnel compensation
ACTUAL
2012
$000

Salaries, fees and other short-term employee benefits

1,308

Post-employment benefit

-

Other long-term benefit

-

Termination benefits

92

Board remuneration

195

Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao remuneration

71

Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Committee remuneration

65

TOTAL KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

1,731

Key management personnel include all the Board, Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao and the HSNO Committee members, the Chief
Executive and the six members of the Executive Leadership Team.

21. BOARD MEMBER REMUNERATION
ACTUAL
2012
$000

BOARD
1

Kerry Prendergast

Chair

48

1

Richard Woods

Deputy Chair

1

David Faulkner

Member

21

1

Anake Goodall

Member

21

1

Tim Lusk

Member

21

1

Graham Pinnell

Member

21

1

Taria Tahana

Member

21

1

Gillian Wratt

Member

21

*21

195
NGĀ KAIHAUTŪ TIKANGA TAIAO
2

Glenice Paine

Chair

26

2

Te Kei Merito

Deputy Chair (term ended December 2011)

2

James Ataria

Member

11

2

Nicholas Roskruge

Member

12

2

Darcia Solomon

Member (term ended December 2011)

James Doherty

Member (appointed October 2011)

10

Wharemāwhai Mina Timutimu

Member (appointed October 2011)

4

Steven (Tīpene) Wilson

Member (appointed May 2012)

2

4

2
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ACTUAL
2012
$000

HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES AND NEW ORGANISMS COMMITTEE
2

Richard Woods*

Chair

2

Max Suckling

Deputy Chair

10

2

Helen Atkins

Member

12

2

Manuka Henare

Member

10

2

Val Orchard

Member

7

2

Deborah Read

Member

6

2

Shaun Ogilvie

Member

15

5

65
TOTAL BOARD MEMBER REMUNERATION

331

Key: 1 = Appointed in June 2011 2 = Appointed in July 2011
* Richard Woods received additional sitting fees as Chair of the HSNO Committee

22. EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION
ACTUAL
2012

TOTAL REMUNERATION PAID OR PAYABLE:
$100,000 - $109,999

11

$110,000 - $119,999

7

$140,000 - $149,999

1

$150,000 - $159,999

3

$160,000 - $169,999

1

$180,000 - $189,999

1

$270,000 - $279,999

1

$310,000 - $319,999

1

TOTAL EMPLOYEES
The total remuneration and other benefits of the Chief Executive were in the $310,000 to $319,999 band.
During the year ended 30 June 2012, one employee received compensation and other benefits in relation to cessation
totalling $92,000. No Board member received compensation or other benefit in relation to cessation.
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23. INDEMNITY
The Board has taken out insurance cover against loss caused by the wrongful acts or omissions of test certifiers approved by
the Board under the HSNO Act where those acts or omissions occurred in a professional capacity in respect of test certifiers’
duties under the HSNO Act. In addition, the Board has agreed to indemnify members (as well as members of Ngā Kaihautū
Tikanga Taiao, HSNO Committee, external experts co-opted onto decision-making committees and the EPA employees) in
relation to acts or omissions made in good faith and in the performance or intended performance of the EPA’s functions.
The Board has taken insurance cover for personal accident and travel risks associated with overseas travel for members of
the Board and staff.

24. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
No significant events occurred between 30 June 2012 and the date of signing the financial statements that would materially
affect the financial statements.

25. CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the NZ IAS 39 categories are as follows:
ACTUAL
2012
$000

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES
Cash and cash equivalents
Debtors and other receivables

6,485
975

Accrued interest
Other financial assets
TOTAL LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

39
4,000
11,499

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST
Creditors and other payables

1,900

Borrowings
TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

1,900

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISKS
The EPA’s activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The EPA
has a number of policies to manage the risks associated with financial instruments to minimise exposure. These policies do not
allow any transactions that are speculative in nature to be entered into.
Market risk
The interest rates on the EPA’s investments are disclosed in Note 9.
Fair value interest rate risk
Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest
rates. The EPA’s exposure to fair value interest rate risk is limited to its bank deposits which are held at fixed rates of interest.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

77

The EPA does not actively manage its exposure to fair value interest rate risk.
Cash flow interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. Investments issued at variable interest rates expose the EPA to cash flow interest rate risk.
The EPA’s investment policy requires a spread of investment maturity dates to limit exposure to short-term interest rate
movements. The EPA currently has no variable interest rate investments.
Sensitivity analysis
If the average daily bank interest rate had been 50 basis points lower for the year ended 30 June 2012, with all other variables
held constant, the surplus for the year would have been $26,000 lower.
Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates.
The EPA has no significant exposure to foreign currency risks as most of its financial instruments are denominated in
New Zealand dollars, with only $20,000 denominated in US dollars.
Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices. The EPA has no
financial instrument that is exposed to changes in market prices.
Credit risk
A credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to the EPA, causing the EPA to incur a loss.
Due to the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, the EPA invests surplus cash with Westpac Banking Corporation. The EPA’s
investment policy allows the investment of cash with other registered banks with a Standard and Poor’s credit rating of AA- or
higher.
The EPA has processes in place to review the credit quality of customers prior to the granting of credit.
The EPA’s maximum credit exposure for each class of financial instrument is represented by the total carrying amount of cash
and cash equivalents (Note 7), net debtors (Note 8), and term deposits (Note 9). There is no collateral held as security against
these financial instruments, including those instruments that are overdue or impaired.
The EPA has no significant concentrations of credit risk, as it has a small number of credit customers and only invests funds
with registered banks with specified Standard and Poor’s credit ratings.
In meeting its liquidity requirements, the EPA maintains a target level of investments that must mature within specified
timeframes.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the EPA will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet commitments as they fall due. Prudent
liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the ability to convert term deposits into ready cash at short
notice and the availability of funding through the Crown.
In meeting its liquidity requirements, the EPA maintains a target level of investments that must mature within
specified timeframes.
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Contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities, excluding derivatives
The table below analyses the EPA financial liabilities (excluding derivatives) into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the balance date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.
CARRYING
AMOUNT

CONTRACTUAL
CASH FLOW

LESS THAN
6 MONTHS

6-12 MONTHS

LESS THAN 1 YEAR

1,900

1,900

1,900

-

-

2012
Creditors and other payables (Note 12)

The EPA does not have any derivative financial instruments.

27. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The EPA’s capital is its equity, which comprises accumulated funds and other reserves. Equity is represented by net assets.
The EPA is subject to the financial management and accountability provisions of the Crown Entities Act 2004, which impose
restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition of securities, issuing guarantees and indemnities and the use of derivatives.
The EPA manages its equity as a by-product of prudently managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, investments, and
general financial dealings to ensure the EPA effectively achieves its objectives and purpose, whilst remaining a going concern.

28. EXPLANATION OF SIGNIFICANT VARIANCES AGAINST BUDGET
Explanations for significant variations from EPA budget figures in the Statement of Intent are as follows:
Statement of Comprehensive Income
Total revenue
Overall, the decrease in revenue of $20,851,000 was mainly due to a lower number of Nationally Significant Proposal
applications and the transfer of Crown funding to the next financial year.
Personnel costs
The decrease in personnel costs of $1,393,000 was mainly due to staff vacancies and cost reduction measures.
Boards of Inquiry fees
The decrease in the Boards of Inquiry fees of $6,071,000 was due to a lower number of Nationally Significant Proposal
applications.
Depreciation and amortisation expenses
The delays in the completion of one software development project and the new premises project, the postponement of the
enhancement development of the ETS Register and other HSNO databases contributed to the lower depreciation charge for
the year by $311,000.
Other expenses
The decrease was mainly due to less consultant expenses, domestic travel, publication and other expenses of $14,221,000. The
reduction in these expenses was related mainly to the lower number of Nationally Significant Proposal applications and the
delay in the completion of the accommodation project.
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Statement of Financial Position
Cash and cash equivalents
Less cash was used for payments to creditors for capital and operating expenditure as well as the transfer of accumulated
depreciation for the ETS Register in the form of cash from MED.
Non-current Assets
Non-current assets were less than budget by $3,266,000, mainly due to delays in completing the new premises project and the
postponement of a number of software development projects relating to the enhancement of the HSNO databases and the
ETS Register.
Employee entitlements
Employee entitlements were more than budget by $89,000 largely due to more accruals for leave liabilities.
Creditors and other payables
Creditors and other payables were more than budget by $783,000 mainly due to more accruals of expenses at year-end.
Provisions
Additional provision of $290,000 was made for an onerous contract for office accommodation.
Statement of Changes in Equity
Surplus/deficit for the year
The operating result for the year was a surplus of $1,183,000 compared to a balanced budget. The budget variances are
explained in the variations of the statement of comprehensive income above.
Statement of Changes in Cash Flows
Receipts from other revenue and payments to suppliers were less than budget mainly due to a lower number of Nationally
Significant Proposal applications. In addition, the lower personnel costs resulted in less cash outflow to employees.
The opening cash balance was re-classified as a capital contribution.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the readers of the Environmental Protection Authority’s financial statements and statement of
service performance for the year ended 30 June 2012
The Auditor-General is the auditor of the Environmental Protection Authority. The Auditor-General has appointed me, Robert Cox,
using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial statements and statement of service
performance of the Authority on her behalf.
We have audited:
»» the financial statements of the Authority on pages 54 to 80, that comprise the statement of financial position as at
30 June 2012, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows
for the year ended on that date and notes to the financial statements that include accounting policies and other
explanatory information; and
»» the statement of service performance of the Authority on pages 22 to 41.
Opinion
In our opinion:
»» the financial statements of the Authority on pages 54 to 80:
–	comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and
–	fairly reflect the Authority’s:
–	financial position as at 30 June 2012; and
–	financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date.
»» the statement of service performance of the Authority on pages 22 to 41:
–	complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and
–	fairly reflects, for each class of outputs for the year ended 30 June 2012, the Authority’s:
–	service performance compared with the forecasts in the statement of forecast service performance for the
financial year; and
–	actual revenue and output expenses compared with the forecasts in the statement of forecast service
performance at the start of the financial year.
Our audit was completed on 30 October 2012. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.
The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board and our responsibilities,
and we explain our independence.
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Basis of opinion
We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the International
Standards on Auditing (New Zealand). Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and carry
out our audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and statement of service performance
are free from material misstatement.
Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would affect a reader’s overall
understanding of the financial statements and statement of service performance. If we had found material misstatements that
were not corrected, we would have referred to them in our opinion.
An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements and statement of service performance. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including our
assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial statements and statement of service performance, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the preparation of the Authority’s
financial statements and statement of service performance that fairly reflect the matters to which they relate. We consider
internal control in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control.
An audit also involves evaluating:
»» the appropriateness of accounting policies used and whether they have been consistently applied;
»» the reasonableness of the significant accounting estimates and judgements made by the Board;
»» the adequacy of all disclosures in the financial statements and statement of service performance; and
»» the overall presentation of the financial statements and statement of service performance.
We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the financial statements and statement
of service performance. We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required and we believe we have
obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Responsibilities of the Board
The Board is responsible for preparing financial statements and a statement of service performance that:
»» comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand;
»» fairly reflect the Authority’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows; and
»» fairly reflect its service performance.
The Board is also responsible for such internal control as is determined necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements and a statement of service performance that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Crown Entities Act 2004.
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Responsibilities of the Auditor
We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and statement of service performance
and reporting that opinion to you based on our audit. Our responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001
and the Crown Entities Act 2004.
Independence
When carrying out the audit, we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor-General, which incorporate the
independence requirements of the New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants.
Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the Authority.

Robert Cox
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor General
Wellington, New Zealand

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited financial statements and the statement of
service performance
This audit report relates to the financial statements and the statement of service performance of the Environmental
Protection Authority (EPA) for the year ended 30 June 2012 included on EPA’s website. EPA’s Board is responsible for
the maintenance and integrity of EPA’s website. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of EPA’s website.
We accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements and the statement of
service performance since they were initially presented on the website.
The audit report refers only to the financial statements and the statement of service performance named above. It
does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to or from the financial
statements and the statement of service performance. If readers of this report are concerned with the inherent risks
arising from electronic data communication they should refer to the published hard copy of the audited financial
statements and the statement of service performance as well as the related audit report dated 30 October 2012 to
confirm the information included in the audited financial statements and non-financial performance information and
the statement of service performance presented on this website.
Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of financial information may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Appendix 1
Appendix 1: N
 ew organism decisions made by Institutional Biological Safety Committees (IBSCs) under delegated authority during 2011-12

NEW ORGANISM DECISIONS MADE BY INSTITUTIONAL BIOLOGICAL
SAFETY COMMITTEES (IBSCS) UNDER DELEGATED AUTHORITY
DURING 2011-12
IBSCs in academic and research institutions and within industry are authorised to undertake decision-making functions for
applications relating to low-risk GM organisms in containment.
New organism decisions made by IBSCs under delegated authority for 2011-12
TOTAL DECISIONS
MADE 2011-12

INCLUDING BIOLOGICAL
MATERIAL DERIVED FROM
NATIVE FLORA/FAUNA

INCLUDING BIOLOGICAL
MATERIAL DERIVED
FROM MĀORI DNA

GMO development in containment –
rapid assessment

3

0

0

GMO import into containment –
rapid assessment

0

0

0

Minor or technical amendments

1

0

0

SUB TOTAL

4

0

0

GMO development in containment –
rapid assessment

3

0

0

GMO import into containment –
rapid assessment

0

0

0

Minor or technical amendments

5

0

0

SUB TOTAL

8

0

0

GMO development in containment –
rapid assessment

4

0

0

GMO import into containment –
rapid assessment

4

0

0

Minor or technical amendments

5

0

0

13

0

0

GMO development in containment –
rapid assessment

4

0

0

GMO import into containment –
rapid assessment

9

0

0

Minor or technical amendments

1

0

0

SUB TOTAL

14

0

0

TOTAL

39

0

0

IBSC APPLICATION TYPE

LINCOLN UNIVERSITY

MASSEY UNIVERSITY

UNIVERSITY OF AUCKLAND

SUB TOTAL
UNIVERSITY OF OTAGO
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Appendix 2
Appendix 2: Incidents and inquiries during 2011-12

INCIDENTS AND INQUIRIES DURING 2011-12
Incidents involving new organisms and hazardous substances are defined as events that may cause adverse effects to human
health and safety or the environment, and include instances of non-compliance. The data on incidents collected by the EPA
comes from enforcement agencies, the New Zealand Fire Service or are identified through media monitoring.
The EPA monitors new organism and hazardous substance incidents in order to:
»» determine the adequacy of the controls placed on approved organisms and substances
»» assess that the HSNO Act is effective in preventing harm to human health and the environment.
Incident levels
Incidents are categorised based on the severity of the effect that occurs, taking into account the nature and particular
circumstances of the incident. There are five levels of incidents: Level 1 (minimal), Level 2 (minor), Level 3 (moderate), Level 4
(major), and Level 5 (massive).
A Level 1 incident is one that results in little discernable effect on people or the environment, minor effect on property or
some social disruption. The HSNO controls on the organisms or substances involved are considered to be adequate. A Level
5 incident is one that results in major damage to property, communities and the ecosystem, including species loss, multiple
deaths and significant economic effects. Substantial system and/or HSNO control failure is likely.
New organism incidents and inquiries during 2011-12
There were 33 incidents involving new organisms, including genetically modified organisms (GMOs), recorded in 2011-12,
compared with 24 for the previous financial year, and 21 in 2009-10. Four of the incidents were categorised as Level 1, 27 as
Level 2, and two as Level 3. No incidents occurred at Levels 4 or 5.
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Level 5
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Thirty incidents occurred in containment facilities. Twenty-two incidents involved zoos and seven incidents involved facilities
holding GMOs. Thirteen incidents resulted in the release from containment of a new organism, all involving zoo animals. In all
but three of these incidents, the animals were successfully recaptured. The other three animals (two butterflies and a meerkat)
are likely to have died due to New Zealand’s climate.
Nine incidents involving zoo animals resulted in adverse effects on people, with one death and eight people receiving minor
injuries. No adverse effects on the environment resulted from the containment facility incidents.
Three incidents that occurred outside of containment were due to the unapproved importation of new organisms or
possession of new organisms. One involved GMOs. None of the incidents resulted in adverse effects to the environment or the
health and safety of people.
There were no inquiries undertaken during 2011-12.
Hazardous substance incidents and inquiries during 2011–12
There were 60616 incidents involving hazardous substances reported to the EPA during the year, of which more than 96%
were categorised as Level 1. The 11 incidents categorised as Level 3 (no incidents at Levels 4 or 5) were all reviewed. The
proportion of incidents associated with the most common types and locations of incidents and the hazardous substances
most commonly associated with these incidents is comparable to previous years. In summary:
»» the majority of incidents resulted from spills or leakage
»» most incidents occurred in workplaces or public places
»» the most common substances associated with the incidents were petrol, diesel, hydrocarbon gases (including LPG)
and fireworks.
More detailed information on the incidents reported can be found on our webpage: http://www.epa.govt.nz/about-us/
monitoring/Pages/Hazardous-substances-incidents.aspx
Hazardous substances incidents 2011-12
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Other

 umbers of incidents reported have been affected by the firefighters’ strike during he year, which has reduced the reporting of minor incidents. In 2010-11, 1,416 incidents were reported
N
to ERMA New Zealand, 98% of which were level 1 incidents.
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Location of hazardous substances incidents 2011-12
Work place

27%

Public place

37%

Motor vehicle

13%

Private dwelling

21%

Train

0%

Ship

1%

Aircraft

0%

Other

1%

Type of hazardous substances incidents 2011-12
Spill/leakage

63%

Fire

28%

Explosion

4%

Spray drift

1%

Clandestine drugs laboratory

0%

Other

4%

Common substances associated with incidents
NUMBER OF INCIDENTS 2011-12
TOTAL
2011-12

EFFECTS
ON PEOPLE

ENVIRONMENTAL
EFFECTS

Petrol

108

4

21

Diesel

58

1

18

Liquid hydrocarbons, not otherwise specified

25

3

5

Liquefied petroleum gas (LPG)

81

2

26

Other hydrocarbon gases

32

2

9

102

2

0

Acids

13

1

0

Chlorine

22

0

12

Ammonia

21

3

9

6

4

1

468

22

101

SUBSTANCE

Fireworks

Agrichemicals
TOTAL
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Appendix 3
Appendix 3: Legislation fully or partly administered by the EPA at 30 June 2012

LEGISLATION FULLY OR PARTLY ADMINISTERED BY THE EPA
AT 30 JUNE 2012
»» Imports and Exports (Restrictions) Act 1988 and Prohibition Order (No 2)
»» Resource Management Act 1991
»» Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act 1996
»» Ozone Layer Protection Act 1996
»» Climate Change Response Act 2002.
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Appendix 4
Appendix 4: Glossary

GLOSSARY
Days	Working days, excluding weekends and public holidays and, for purposes
of applications made under Part 5 of the HSNO Act, the period between
20 December and 15 January each year.
DoL	Department of Labour (now Labour Group, Ministry for Business, Innovation
and Employment).
Emissions Ruling	A person may apply to the EPA for an emissions ruling in respect to whether an activity
falls within Schedules 3 or 4 of the Climate Change Response Act , whether a person is
a participant, whether data and/or information has been gathered correctly, whether
the correct methodology for calculating emissions or removals has been used, and/or
whether the correct data or information has been used in the verification process.
ESR

Environmental Science and Research.

GMO	Genetically modified organism. Any organism in which the genetic material has been
modified by in vitro techniques.
Group Standard	Standard under the HSNO Act for groups of hazardous substances that have a similar
nature, are of a similar type or have similar circumstances of use, for which the risks are
effectively managed by one set of conditions.
Hazardous substance	A substance that is explosive, flammable, an oxidiser, toxic, corrosive or ecotoxic,
according to thresholds set out in various HSNO Act Regulations (for a full definition,
see section 2 of the HSNO Act).
HSNO Act

Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act 1996.

IBSC

Institutional Biological Safety Committees – these act under delegation from the EPA.

LPG

Liquefied petroleum gas.

MAF (MPI)

Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry (now Ministry for Primary Industries).

MBIE

Ministry for Business, Innovation and Employment.

NZ GAAP

New Zealand generally accepted accounting practice.

NZ IAS

New Zealand International Accounting Standard.

NZ IFRS

New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards.

OECD

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.

POP

Persistent Organic Pollutants.

Responsible Minister	Minister for the Environment. The Minister for Climate Change Issues is also consulted
and informed of issues relevant to his portfolio.
Unique Emissions Factors (UEF)	A unique emissions factor allows individual participants in the ETS to reduce their
surrender costs by adopting new technologies or processes that reduce their emissions
Verifiers for Unique Emissions Factors: 	Recognised independent verifiers who provide assurance around the information
provided by participants registered in the ETS when they apply for the use of unique
emissions factors.
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